




Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

Fujitec’s global mission statement states, “Respecting people, technologies and products, we collaborate with people from nations 
around the world to develop beautiful and functional cities that meet the needs of a new age.” Recognizing that the 
implementation of this mission statement represents the genuine essence of our CSR, we work in unison to undertake CSR 
activities. Fujitec also collaborates with its stakeholders to carry out diverse CSR activities as part of efforts to coexist 
harmoniously with society and nature and realize a sustainable society and to become a truly valuable company.

Respecting people, technologies 
and products

Developing beautiful and 
functional cities

Collaborating with people from 
nations around the world

Initiatives for Safety

Two Technique Competitions to Develop Human Resources and Hand Down Technologies

   Maintenance Operations
Elevators require proper management, maintenance inspections and 
regular testing to continue operating safely and comfortably at all times. 
Fujitec offers an integrated system of in-house development, 
production and maintenance, thereby contributing to the development 
of safe social infrastructure. We perform maintenance inspections of 
elevators by specialists once a month in general in order to provide 
stable, high-quality services.

Social Contribution Activities

In August 2014, Fujitec held training at the Big Fit after-sales service 
base for the Ibaraki City Fire Department in Osaka and the Japan 
Ground Self-Defense Force Camp Itami. This training focused on 
methods for rescuing persons trapped inside elevators following an 
earthquake or other natural disasters.
 The training explained the basic mechanisms of elevators and 
methods of unlocking doors at each floor stop and also provided 
practical training on rescuing trapped riders using an actual elevator. 
We plan to continue holding this type of external training.

Fujitec also supports musical events and other cultural and artistic 
activities. In 2014, we co-sponsored “THE PIANIST—Composer Pianist 
Festival 2014,” a concert tour featuring such popular pianists as 
Nobuyuki Tsujii, Takashi Kako and Les Frères. Held from August 23 
through September 3, this tour consisted of nine performances in 
seven cities across Japan.

Fujitec provides safety enhancement packages as safety 
countermeasures for existing elevators. In addition to functions to 
prevent elevators from moving while their doors are still open and to 
prevent people from being trapped inside during an earthquake or 
power outage, these packages also include seismic reinforcement to 
prevent rope displacement or entanglement as well as derailment. 
Bringing these enhancements into a single package, the product 
enables elevator owners to comply with legal safety standards at 
minimal cost and effort.

Fujitec also makes efforts to foster an awareness of safe vehicle 
operation. In all company-owned vehicles, Fujitec has introduced 
telematics systems that transmit real-time e-mails to administrators 
whenever excessive speed or sudden deceleration or acceleration are 
detected. The introduction of these systems is helping to reduce vehicle 
accidents.
 We also convene the monthly Health and Safety Committee 
composed of the managers of each service center, while at the morning 
meeting all employees recite the “10 Don’t Do Rules for Safety” as part 
of safety awareness efforts.

Competition in which participants demonstrate their techniques 
cultivated through daily efforts

Elevator maintenance operations Elevator training held on a regular basis Les Frères

Nobuyuki Tsujii Takashi Kako

Environmental protectionSocial contributions

Respect for employees Customer oriented

Safety first

Making electric circuits

Fujitec holds the National Installation/Renovation Technique 
Competition aimed at raising elevator and escalator installation skills and 
the National Maintenance Technique Competition for increasing the 
level of maintenance skills. Each competition is held every two years.
In the National Maintenance Technique Competition held in 2014, 
participants competed in a variety of events. These ranged from paper 

tests and maintenance technique competitions to information search 
and answer contests using the company’s intranet as well as a 
customer-response contest using customer-dialogue simulations. By 
holding these competitions, we are aiming to share advanced 
techniques and know-how in addition to raising the quality of our 
human resources by handing down various techniques.

Information search using the company’s intranet

   Holding Elevator Training for Fire Departments and Japan 
   Self-Defense Forces

   Co-Sponsoring Concert Tours

   Safety Enhancement Packages

   Fostering an Awareness of Safe Driving

FUJITEC CorporationANNUAL REPORT 2015 2322



OUTPUT

Fujitec’s global mission statement is “Respecting people, technologies and products, we collaborate with people from nations around the world to 
develop beautiful and functional cities that meet the needs of a new age.” To accomplish this mission, we believe that it is essential to gain 
stakeholders’ trust and fulfill our social responsibilities. With our steadfast reputation, we will work to meet the expectations of all our stakeholders 
and to increase their trust in us. To this end, we will construct and establish the corporate governance structure we require to ensure sound and 
transparent group management.

Basic Policy
Basic Approach to Corporate Governance

Scope for data collection: Head Office, plants, regional offices, branch offices and service centers in Japan

Switching to LED lighting inside elevators enables an approximately 713 
kWh reduction in electric power consumption and around a 392 kg 
reduction in CO2 emissions annually while still maintaining the same 
level of brightness. We are making proposals to customers for replacing 
their conventional fluorescent lighting with LED lighting.

Management Structure
Matters Related to Functions of Business Execution, Audits and 
Oversight, Nominations and Determination of Compensation 
(Overview of Current Corporate Governance Structure)

Fujitec is a company with a Board of Directors and an Audit & 
Supervisory Board. The Board of Directors is comprised of seven 
directors (including three outside directors) and is responsible for 
deciding on important matters relating to business management and 
overseeing directors’ performance of their duties. At the same time, the 
Audit & Supervisory Board comprised of four audit & supervisory board 
members (including two outside audit & supervisory board members) 
audits the directors’ performance of their duties.
 The business execution framework of the company and its 
subsidiaries is the subject of the important conferences of the Global 
Executive Committee, which meets on a quarterly basis to deliberate on 
important issues in group management, including business promotion 
in Japan and abroad, and the Operating Officer Meeting, which is held 
on a monthly basis to deliberate on important issues regarding business 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Corporate Governance

Fujitec positions the implementation of environmental initiatives as one of its top-priority management issues for the sustainable development of society. 
Aiming for coexistence between social and economic development and the earth’s environment, we strive to accurately assess the environmental 
impact of development, design and production of elevators and escalators as well as field services and actual products. We then formulate 
environmental goals and targets and make unified group-wide efforts to attain these objectives.

Environmental Activities

Corporate Governance Structure
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* Data collected only from 
   production sites

Energy

Electricity 11,632,427 kWh
City gas 10,689 m3

LPG 346,658 m3

Diesel 44,088 L
Gasoline 766,390 L
Kerosene 14,841 L

Water resources

Water 32,141 m3

Materials

Metal

Plastic

Other

INPUT

*Excluding organic waste

Waste

General waste 90 tons

Industrial waste 945 tons

Specially controlled 
industrial waste 35 tons

Atmospheric emissions

CO2 emissions

10,677 tons

Design and 
development Logistics

Sales

Installation

Procurement

Production

Maintenance

Modernization

Annual Electric Power Consumption (kWh)

Conventional
fluorescent lighting

946

LED lighting

233

in Japan. All operating officers serving concurrently as directors attend 
the Global Executive Committee, including the CEO, the executive vice 
president and the standing audit & supervisory board members. At the 
Operating Officer Meeting, all directors in Japan concurrently serving as 
operating officers attend, including the CEO and the vice president. In 
addition, the proceedings and results of these important conferences 
are reported to outside directors following each meeting.

Reason for Selecting the Current Corporate Governance Structure

In line with the company’s basic approach to corporate governance, the 
company seeks to strengthen guidance and management through 
standing committees, such as the Risk Management Committee, while 
overseeing the status of business execution through the attendance of 
directors serving concurrently as operating officers in important 
meetings and other means. Moreover, the proceedings and results of 
important meetings are reported to the outside directors so that they 
can give appropriate advice and so forth. The company also promotes 
the sharing of information of audits by the audit & supervisory board 

Shiga Prefecture is focusing on measures to remove invasive fish 
species from Lake Biwa that are having a major adverse impact on the 
lake’s ecosystem. Fujitec agrees with the intent of this project and 
participates in these activities every year.
 In October 2014, Fujitec held the Fourth Fujitec Invasive Fish 
Removal Event that attracted a total of 54 anglers, including 
participants from Osaka and Nagoya. The landed invasive fish were 
picked up by a non-profit organization (NPO) and then processed into 
compost that was distributed to neighboring farmers.

Fourth Fujitec Invasive Fish Removal Event

   Overall Environmental Load (Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2015)

   Switching to LED Lighting to Achieve Large Reductions in 
   Electric Power Consumption and CO2 Emissions

   Activities for Removing Invasive Fish Species at Lake Biwa

Approximately 
75% reduction!

Submission of important matters 
for discussion/report thereof
Submission of important matters 
for discussion/report thereof

FUJITEC CorporationANNUAL REPORT 2015 2524



Corporate Governance

Reason for Selection of Outside Directors and Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Members

*1: Independent directors / auditors

*2: Mandatory conditions imposed by Tokyo Stock Exchange, Inc. to ensure the protection of ordinary shareholders

Mr. Nakano fulfills the conditions for an independent auditor*2. The 
company believes that he will make use of his store of rich experience 
and high level of knowledge as a certified public accountant and a tax 
accountant to perform his duty of auditing the company appropriately.

Head of the Masanobu Nakano CPA Office
Representative member of tax accountant's corporation TAS
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Member, S Foods Inc.
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Member, Kura Corporation

Mr. Saeki fulfills the conditions for an independent director*2, and he 
has been involved with corporate management for many years as a 
lawyer and has experience serving as an outside officer. The company 
believes that he will provide management with useful opinions and 
advice based on his rich store of knowledge.

Attorney, Kitahama Partners
Outside Director, IwaiCosmo Holdings, Inc.
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board Member, 
Watabe Wedding Corporation

Outside Director*1

Terumichi Saeki

Mr. Shigekane has been involved in corporate management for many 
years. The company believes that he will provide management with 
useful opinions and advice based on his rich store of experience and 
high level of knowledge.

Counselor, Fuji Electric Co., Ltd.
Outside Director, Tsukishima Kikai Co., Ltd.

Outside Director

Hisao Shigekane

Mr. Ishikawa has been involved in important positions in financial 
institutions for many years. The company believes he will make use of 
his store of experience and knowledge relating to finance and 
accounting to perform his duty of auditing the company appropriately.

Outside Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member*1

Kenichi Ishikawa

Outside Audit & Supervisory 
Board Member*1

Masanobu Nakano

Mr. Hanakawa fulfills the conditions for an independent director*2, and he 
has been involved with corporate management for many years and has 
served as a university professor of business administration and other 
disciplines. The company believes that he will provide management with 
useful opinions and advice based on his rich store of knowledge.

Outside Director*1

Yasuo Hanakawa

Position Main Concurrent Position Reason for Selection

members, accounting audits and internal audits, which are undertaken 
independently of business execution, and strives to optimize the 
governance structure so that each of these can perform its role and 
function effectively.

Internal Control
Basic Approach and Status of the Internal Control System

The Fujitec Group has enacted the Basic Policy on Internal Control by a 
resolution of the Board of Directors based on the Global Mission 
Statement, the Fujitec Philosophy of Human Resource Management 
and the Fujitec Corporate Action Rules. Based on this policy, Fujitec 
has an Internal Control Department to promote related activities. That 
Department also responds to evaluations and audits of the internal 
control system by working to understand the operation processes of 
each business execution division and upgrading the internal control 
system. We have also established dedicated committees for 
compliance, risk management and information management systems, 
and these provide the necessary guidance and management for 
business execution.

Risk Management
To reduce various operating risks, the company has established the 
Risk Management Committee, chaired by the CEO. The Committee 
works to promote compliance, including risk management at all group 
companies, and information security measures, as well as to achieve 
early detection of risk factors that could have a major social impact, 
such as ensuring product safety, and countermeasures for those 
factors. Underneath the Committee there are standing committees that 
investigate and study each risk factor. The Risk Management Operation 
Committee collects information swiftly and accurately and ensures 
proper direction and the management of business execution to ensure 
that risk management functions effectively throughout the company.

Compliance
The Compliance Committee promotes compliance with the laws, 
regulations and corporate ethics necessary for promoting appropriate 
corporate activities and disseminates these to group employees and 
other concerned persons as widely as possible. The Committee 
formulates the Compliance Action Plan every year and promotes 
compliance activities. As part of these activities, the company conducts 
training for employees according to their position, level and 
department, as well as group training and on-demand education 
through e-learning, along with other measures to ensure that laws and 

regulations are made known to employees along with carrying out 
activities to raise employee awareness. The company has also 
established an internal reporting system to curb fraud. This includes a 
Compliance Consultation Desk as an internal reporting system related 
to compliance that allows all employees to consult directly regardless of 
organizational lines and which will receive employee reports.

Information Management 
(Information Security)
To protect information assets with a view toward maintaining and 
improving security, the Information Security Committee formulates the 
security policy and countermeasure standards. Also, upon deliberating 
and discussing the use, handling and management of information 
networks, systems and devices, the Committee provides instruction and 
promotes educational activities in these areas.

Auditing System
Internal Auditing

To raise the effectiveness of the internal control system, the Internal 
Audit Office, which is composed of internal auditors with an 
appreciable level of knowledge on finance and accounting, formulates 
the auditing plan for each fiscal year based on the Internal Audit Basic 
Regulations decided by a resolution of the Board of Directors and 
implements internal audits centered on the examination and 
assessment of risk at group companies.

Audit & Supervisory Board Members

Audit & supervisory board members determine audit standards, 
policies and plans at the Audit & Supervisory Board. Full-time audit & 
supervisory board members properly audit the execution of business 
duties by directors by attending the Global Executive Committee as well 
as by getting reports on the status of the execution of business duties.
 As the secretariat for audit & supervisory board members and the 
Audit & Supervisory Board, we have set up the Audit Office, which is 
independent from business execution departments and exclusively 
plays an ancillary role in audit operations, and established a structure 
for promoting smooth audit operations.

Mutual Collaboration among the Internal Auditors, Audit & 
Supervisory Board Members and Accounting Auditors and 
Relationship with Internal Control Department

The audit & supervisory board members, accounting auditors and 
Internal Audit Office regularly convene liaison meetings for formulating 
audit policies and plans for each fiscal year to share auditing 
information with audited departments and implement activities for 
carrying out effective audits.
 The results of the internal audit are reported to the Board of 
Directors as well as the Audit & Supervisory Board and the Internal 
Control Department. The Internal Control Department cooperates with 
the Internal Audit Office and the accounting auditors, while undertaking 
activities to raise the level of internal control. Each half year, it reports 
on plans and the status of these efforts to the Board of Directors, in 
which outside directors and outside audit & supervisory board 
members participate.

Outside Directors and Outside Audit & Supervisory Board 
Members

The company has three outside directors and two outside audit & 
supervisory board members. The outside directors possess a wealth of 
experience and knowledge in corporate management and provide 
useful advice and recommendations from objective perspectives to the 
company’s management. We also believe the outside audit & 
supervisory board members can utilize their abundant experience and 
knowledge in finance and accounting in the company’s audits and 
execute proper audits from objective and specialist perspectives.
 Additionally, the company reports to outside directors on the 
proceedings and results from the Global Executive Committee and the 
Operating Officer Meeting that deliberate on important matters 
concerning management and the implementation of businesses in 
Japan and overseas. The company reports to outside audit & 
supervisory board members on the proceedings of liaison meetings 
held by the full-time audit & supervisory board members, accounting 
auditors and Internal Audit Office for the purpose of sharing 
audit-related information. In this manner, we collaborate with and 
support outside directors and outside audit & supervisory board 
members by providing them with information on the company and its 
group companies that is necessary for oversight and audits.
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Apr. 1976 Joined the company
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Operating Results

Net Sales
Consolidated net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 were 
¥165,297 million, an increase of 12.4% compared with the previous 
fiscal year. Domestic net sales were ¥61,508 million, an increase of 
5.4% compared with the previous fiscal year, and overseas net sales 
were ¥103,789 million, an increase of 17.0% compared with the 
previous fiscal year. The actual percentage increase in overseas sales, 
excluding the effect of foreign exchange fluctuations, was 7.2%.

1. Japan
In Japan, net sales were ¥65,514 million, an increase of 5.0% 
compared with the previous fiscal year, due to an increase in new 
installations. Operating income was ¥5,149 million, an increase of ¥544 
million compared with the previous fiscal year, because of a favorable 
turnaround in the market environment that absorbed rising costs for 
imported materials as a result of the weakening of the yen as well as 
offset an increase in installation costs caused by a shortage of labor.

2. North America
In North America, net sales were ¥17,736 million, an increase of 25.2% 
compared with the previous fiscal year, due mainly to growth in new 
installations. An operating loss of ¥582 million was recorded due to 
increased installation costs whereas an operating loss of ¥26 million 
was recorded in the previous fiscal year. The actual percentage 
increase in net sales, excluding the effect of foreign exchange 
fluctuations, was 17.0%.

3. Europe
In Europe, net sales were ¥601 million, a decrease of 10.7% compared 
with the previous fiscal year. An operating loss of ¥1 million was 
recorded, whereas operating income of ¥5 million was recorded in the 
previous fiscal year.

4. South Asia
In South Asia, net sales were ¥15,499 million, an increase of 19.0% 
compared with the previous fiscal year. Operating income was ¥1,559 
million, a decrease of ¥220 million compared with the previous fiscal 
year, due mainly to a rise in new installation costs. The actual 
percentage increase in net sales, excluding the effect of foreign 
exchange fluctuations, was 10.4%.

5. East Asia
In East Asia, net sales were ¥76,241 million, an increase of 14.9% 
compared with the previous fiscal year, due to an increase in new 
installations in China. Operating income was ¥7,328 million, an 
increase of ¥658 million compared with the previous fiscal year. The 
actual percentage increase in net sales, excluding the effect of foreign 
exchange fluctuations, was 4.5%.

Order Backlogs
In Japan, order backlogs were ¥47,779 million, an increase of 17.4% 
compared with the level at the end of the previous fiscal year. Overseas, 
order backlogs were ¥118,966 million, an increase of 15.3% compared 
with the level at the end of the previous fiscal year. As a result, the total 
amount of order backlogs was ¥166,745 million, an increase of 15.9% 
compared with the level at the end of the previous fiscal year. The actual 
percentage increase in total order backlogs overseas, excluding the 
effect of foreign exchange fluctuations, was 5.7%.

Operating Income and Net Income
Operating income was ¥13,488 million, an increase of 4.8% compared 
with the previous fiscal year, due to an increase in profit in Japan and 
East Asia. Ordinary income was ¥14,826 million, an increase of 4.5% 
compared with the previous fiscal year, because of an increased 
financial balance. Income before income taxes and minority interests 
was ¥14,806 million, an increase of 5.9% compared with the previous 
fiscal year, as a result of a decrease in a net special loss. Net income 
was ¥8,356 million, an increase of 9.0% compared with the previous 
fiscal year.

Financial Position

Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets
Total assets at the end of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 were 
¥179,856 million, an increase of ¥25,591 million compared with the 
end of the previous fiscal year. This was due mainly to an increase in 
cash and deposits as well as an increase in trade notes and accounts 
receivable.
 Total liabilities were ¥75,236 million, an increase of ¥14,472 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year. This was mainly 
because decreases in accrued income taxes and net defined benefit 
liability were offset by increases in electronically recorded obligations, 
short-term debt and advances from customers.
 Net assets were ¥104,620 million, an increase of ¥11,119 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year. This was due mainly 
to increases in retained earnings of ¥7,833 million and foreign currency 
translation adjustments of ¥6,324 million, which were offset by a 
purchase of treasury stock of ¥6,894 million. The shareholders’ equity 
ratio at March 31, 2015 was 51.9%, a decrease of 2.9 percentage 
points compared with the end of the previous fiscal year, and net assets 
per share were ¥1,074.82, an increase of ¥162.42 compared with the 
end of the previous fiscal year.

Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2015 were ¥30,602 million, an increase of ¥9,699 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was ¥10,753 million, an 
increase in revenue of ¥1,459 million compared with the previous fiscal 
year. This was due mainly to an increase in trade notes and accounts 
receivable, which was offset by income before income taxes and 
minority interests of ¥14,806 million and depreciation and amortization 
of ¥2,373 million.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was ¥619 million, a decrease in 
expenditures of ¥2,036 million compared with the previous fiscal year, 
due mainly to an increase in time deposits, net (with the maturity of 
more than three months) of ¥1,651 million and collection of loans 
receivable of ¥1,856 million, which were offset by acquisitions of 
property, plant and equipment of ¥3,867 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was ¥3,225 million, a decrease in 
expenditures of ¥598 million compared with the previous fiscal year, 
due mainly to an increase in short-term debt, net of ¥7,079 million 
offsetting purchase of treasury stock of ¥6,894 million and cash 
dividends paid.

Capital Investment
Total capital investment during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 
was ¥4,071 million. Within this, capital investment in Japan was ¥1,328 
million mainly for additional facilities that comprise elevator 
development and production bases and after-sales service bases. 
Overseas capital investment was ¥2,743 million for production bases in 
East Asia.

R&D Expenses
Total R&D expenses during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 were 
¥2,023 million. Within this, R&D expenses in Japan came to ¥1,900 
million, and overseas R&D expenses were ¥123 million.

Business and Other Risks

The following matters represent risks that could have a significant 
material impact on investors’ decisions among the matters concerning 
business conditions and accounting conditions mentioned in this 
annual report. These risks do not necessarily cover all possible risks 
facing the Fujitec Group and there are also other risks that are difficult 
to forecast. The Fujitec Group’s business, business results and financial 
condition could be significantly and adversely affected by any risk factor 
in the future.
 Forward-looking statements contained in this report represent 
judgments by the Fujitec Group as of the end of the consolidated 
fiscal year.

Political and Economic Circumstances
The Fujitec Group has 12 production bases and numerous sales bases 
in 24 countries and regions around the world and carries out global 
business activities. Political and economic circumstances in these 
countries and regions where business is carried out could have an 
impact on the supply of and demand for the Fujitec Group’s products. 
In particular, the Fujitec Group’s products are elevators and escalators 
that are installed in buildings, including office buildings, hotels, 
commercial buildings and residences. Therefore, these products have 
one aspect whereby the scale of public-sector investment and 
economic trends in the construction industry in Japan and overseas 
could have an impact on the Fujitec Group’s business results.

Development of New Products
The Fujitec Group continually carries out activities for the development 
of new products that are matched to customer needs. In the elevator 
and escalator industry, where the Fujitec Group operates, customer 
needs are diversifying in step with the maturing of markets. On the 
other hand, product development competition among leading 
manufacturers worldwide is fierce and there is a possibility of being 
driven out of the market by failing to adapt in a timely manner to 
leading-edge technological trends.
 Under such conditions, not being able to adequately forecast 
industry and market changes and develop appealing new products 
could lower the Fujitec Group’s future growth and profitability and have 
an adverse impact on its financial condition and business results.

Price Competition
In domestic and overseas markets, where the Fujitec Group undertakes 
business, there is ongoing fierce competition with competitors that 
include leading manufacturers carrying out business on a global scale. 
In addition, it is expected to be a continued trend toward business 
dominance by increasing market share. In particular, there has been an 
intensification of price competition for products and services introduced 
into the market at even lower prices as part of business development of 
competing companies and a business strategy of business alliances that 
include mutual competitors. This could have an adverse impact on the 
Fujitec Group’s financial condition and business results.

Manufacturer’s Liability
The Fujitec Group undertakes integrated production, sales, installation 
and maintenance of elevators, escalators and moving walks, and in 
each business process conforms with the laws, regulations and 
guidelines applicable in each market. Also, the Fujitec Group makes 
adequate considerations to assure the safety of customers and users by 
offering products and services verified in accordance with its own 
internally established technical standards and safety standards. 
Nevertheless, an unforeseen product defect or usage by the user could 
cause equipment damage or an incident or even in certain instances an 
accident resulting in injury or death.
 In such circumstances, responsibility as a manufacturer could be 
called into question. This could have an adverse impact on the Fujitec 
Group’s financial condition and business results because of 
indemnification for damages or the loss of trust by society.

Joint Ventures
The Fujitec Group basically carries out business using its own capital. 
However, it undertakes business through joint ventures due to legal 
restrictions in some countries. One such principal country is China, 
where the Fujitec Group has extremely favorable relations with its joint 
venture partners and plans to continue mutually beneficial equitable 
relationships.
 Nonetheless, in the event of a change in a joint venture partner’s 
economic circumstances or policies concerning business development, 
the Fujitec Group cannot eliminate the possibility of re-evaluating the 
joint venture, replacing the joint venture partner or dissolving the joint 
relationship in the future. Such an event could have an adverse impact 
on the Fujitec Group’s financial condition and business results.

Latent Risks Associated with Global Business Development
As the Fujitec Group carries out global business development, the 
following latent risks could have an adverse impact on business 
development and business results.

1) Terrorism, wars, revolutions and other social upheaval
2) Occurrence of natural disasters such as earthquakes, typhoons  

and contagious disease pandemics
3) Unexpected changes in laws and regulations
4) Strikes by workers at seaports and airports or by persons in the 

transport industry
5) Interruption of production activities due to an infrastructure 

accident such as a power outage or interruption of the water 
supply at production bases

Raw Materials Prices
Procurement prices for raw materials such as steel stock, wire rope and 
stainless steel that make up the Fujitec Group’s products are 
susceptible to the impact of steel market conditions. Therefore, a rise in 
prices in the steel market will push up product manufacturing costs, 
which could have an adverse impact on the Fujitec Group’s business 
results.

Financing
The Fujitec Group carries out asset liability management (ALM) at each 
company and works to maintain adequate liquidity. However, the 
emergence of instability in the financial system and a change in the 
lending policies of financial institutions could have an adverse impact 
on the Fujitec Group’s financial condition. Through ALM, financing is 
being carried out to minimize the impact of a rise in financing costs. 
However, a large rise in interest rates could have an adverse impact on 
the Fujitec Group’s business results.

Exchange Rate Fluctuations
The Fujitec Group is operating global production and procurement 
structures for mutually supplying products and components that are 
advantageous in terms of cost and quality, and works to minimize the 
adverse impact of exchange rate fluctuations on its business results. 
However, an unexpectedly rapid and large fluctuation in exchange rates 
could have an adverse impact on the Fujitec Group’s financial condition 
and business results.

Share Price Fluctuations
The net asset value of “other securities with a fair market value” held by 
the Fujitec Group could decrease due to a decline in share prices, 
which could have an adverse impact on the Fujitec Group’s financial 
condition.

Net Sales (Domestic/Overseas)
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Order Backlogs (Domestic/Overseas)
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Operating income
Operating margin

Domestic order backlogs
Overseas order backlogs

Domestic net sales
Overseas net sales

Assets
Net assets
Shareholders’ equity ratio

Net income per share
Net assets per share

Net income
ROE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

49,80548,569

53,484

102,053

47,948

57,113

105,061

67,663

117,468

58,338

88,716

147,054

61,508

103,789

35,525

65,188

100,713

34,391

63,605

97,996

71,076

37,896

108,972

40,692

103,189

143,881

47,779

118,966

165,297

166,745

(Millions of yen) (%)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

5.1

5,221

5.1

5,363 7.8

9,172

8.8

12,871

8.28.2

13,48813,488

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

0

5

10

15

(%)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

8,3568,356

Assets/Net Assets/Shareholders’ Equity Ratio

Net Income/ROE
(Millions of yen)

(Millions of yen)

Net Income Per Share/Net Assets Per Share
(Yen)

0

2,500

5,000

7,500

10,000

0

5

10

15

20

12.4

7,569

4.1

2,607 8.2

5,507

9.8

7,664

9.49.4

(%)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

179,856179,856

59.9

104,817

67,161

58.9

67,915

107,213

58.6

122,643

78,272

54.8

93,501

154,265

51.951.9
104,620104,620

1,074.81,074.8

90.890.8

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

80.9
27.9 58.9

671.2 674.8

82.3

768.6

912.4

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

0

20

40

60

80

FUJITEC CorporationANNUAL REPORT 2015 3130



(FY)

(FY)

(FY)

Operating Results

Net Sales
Consolidated net sales for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 were 
¥165,297 million, an increase of 12.4% compared with the previous 
fiscal year. Domestic net sales were ¥61,508 million, an increase of 
5.4% compared with the previous fiscal year, and overseas net sales 
were ¥103,789 million, an increase of 17.0% compared with the 
previous fiscal year. The actual percentage increase in overseas sales, 
excluding the effect of foreign exchange fluctuations, was 7.2%.

1. Japan
In Japan, net sales were ¥65,514 million, an increase of 5.0% 
compared with the previous fiscal year, due to an increase in new 
installations. Operating income was ¥5,149 million, an increase of ¥544 
million compared with the previous fiscal year, because of a favorable 
turnaround in the market environment that absorbed rising costs for 
imported materials as a result of the weakening of the yen as well as 
offset an increase in installation costs caused by a shortage of labor.

2. North America
In North America, net sales were ¥17,736 million, an increase of 25.2% 
compared with the previous fiscal year, due mainly to growth in new 
installations. An operating loss of ¥582 million was recorded due to 
increased installation costs whereas an operating loss of ¥26 million 
was recorded in the previous fiscal year. The actual percentage 
increase in net sales, excluding the effect of foreign exchange 
fluctuations, was 17.0%.

3. Europe
In Europe, net sales were ¥601 million, a decrease of 10.7% compared 
with the previous fiscal year. An operating loss of ¥1 million was 
recorded, whereas operating income of ¥5 million was recorded in the 
previous fiscal year.

4. South Asia
In South Asia, net sales were ¥15,499 million, an increase of 19.0% 
compared with the previous fiscal year. Operating income was ¥1,559 
million, a decrease of ¥220 million compared with the previous fiscal 
year, due mainly to a rise in new installation costs. The actual 
percentage increase in net sales, excluding the effect of foreign 
exchange fluctuations, was 10.4%.

5. East Asia
In East Asia, net sales were ¥76,241 million, an increase of 14.9% 
compared with the previous fiscal year, due to an increase in new 
installations in China. Operating income was ¥7,328 million, an 
increase of ¥658 million compared with the previous fiscal year. The 
actual percentage increase in net sales, excluding the effect of foreign 
exchange fluctuations, was 4.5%.

Order Backlogs
In Japan, order backlogs were ¥47,779 million, an increase of 17.4% 
compared with the level at the end of the previous fiscal year. Overseas, 
order backlogs were ¥118,966 million, an increase of 15.3% compared 
with the level at the end of the previous fiscal year. As a result, the total 
amount of order backlogs was ¥166,745 million, an increase of 15.9% 
compared with the level at the end of the previous fiscal year. The actual 
percentage increase in total order backlogs overseas, excluding the 
effect of foreign exchange fluctuations, was 5.7%.

Operating Income and Net Income
Operating income was ¥13,488 million, an increase of 4.8% compared 
with the previous fiscal year, due to an increase in profit in Japan and 
East Asia. Ordinary income was ¥14,826 million, an increase of 4.5% 
compared with the previous fiscal year, because of an increased 
financial balance. Income before income taxes and minority interests 
was ¥14,806 million, an increase of 5.9% compared with the previous 
fiscal year, as a result of a decrease in a net special loss. Net income 
was ¥8,356 million, an increase of 9.0% compared with the previous 
fiscal year.

Financial Position

Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets
Total assets at the end of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 were 
¥179,856 million, an increase of ¥25,591 million compared with the 
end of the previous fiscal year. This was due mainly to an increase in 
cash and deposits as well as an increase in trade notes and accounts 
receivable.
 Total liabilities were ¥75,236 million, an increase of ¥14,472 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year. This was mainly 
because decreases in accrued income taxes and net defined benefit 
liability were offset by increases in electronically recorded obligations, 
short-term debt and advances from customers.
 Net assets were ¥104,620 million, an increase of ¥11,119 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year. This was due mainly 
to increases in retained earnings of ¥7,833 million and foreign currency 
translation adjustments of ¥6,324 million, which were offset by a 
purchase of treasury stock of ¥6,894 million. The shareholders’ equity 
ratio at March 31, 2015 was 51.9%, a decrease of 2.9 percentage 
points compared with the end of the previous fiscal year, and net assets 
per share were ¥1,074.82, an increase of ¥162.42 compared with the 
end of the previous fiscal year.

Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fiscal year ended March 
31, 2015 were ¥30,602 million, an increase of ¥9,699 million 
compared with the end of the previous fiscal year.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was ¥10,753 million, an 
increase in revenue of ¥1,459 million compared with the previous fiscal 
year. This was due mainly to an increase in trade notes and accounts 
receivable, which was offset by income before income taxes and 
minority interests of ¥14,806 million and depreciation and amortization 
of ¥2,373 million.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was ¥619 million, a decrease in 
expenditures of ¥2,036 million compared with the previous fiscal year, 
due mainly to an increase in time deposits, net (with the maturity of 
more than three months) of ¥1,651 million and collection of loans 
receivable of ¥1,856 million, which were offset by acquisitions of 
property, plant and equipment of ¥3,867 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was ¥3,225 million, a decrease in 
expenditures of ¥598 million compared with the previous fiscal year, 
due mainly to an increase in short-term debt, net of ¥7,079 million 
offsetting purchase of treasury stock of ¥6,894 million and cash 
dividends paid.

Capital Investment
Total capital investment during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 
was ¥4,071 million. Within this, capital investment in Japan was ¥1,328 
million mainly for additional facilities that comprise elevator 
development and production bases and after-sales service bases. 
Overseas capital investment was ¥2,743 million for production bases in 
East Asia.

R&D Expenses
Total R&D expenses during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 were 
¥2,023 million. Within this, R&D expenses in Japan came to ¥1,900 
million, and overseas R&D expenses were ¥123 million.

Business and Other Risks

The following matters represent risks that could have a significant 
material impact on investors’ decisions among the matters concerning 
business conditions and accounting conditions mentioned in this 
annual report. These risks do not necessarily cover all possible risks 
facing the Fujitec Group and there are also other risks that are difficult 
to forecast. The Fujitec Group’s business, business results and financial 
condition could be significantly and adversely affected by any risk factor 
in the future.
 Forward-looking statements contained in this report represent 
judgments by the Fujitec Group as of the end of the consolidated 
fiscal year.

Political and Economic Circumstances
The Fujitec Group has 12 production bases and numerous sales bases 
in 24 countries and regions around the world and carries out global 
business activities. Political and economic circumstances in these 
countries and regions where business is carried out could have an 
impact on the supply of and demand for the Fujitec Group’s products. 
In particular, the Fujitec Group’s products are elevators and escalators 
that are installed in buildings, including office buildings, hotels, 
commercial buildings and residences. Therefore, these products have 
one aspect whereby the scale of public-sector investment and 
economic trends in the construction industry in Japan and overseas 
could have an impact on the Fujitec Group’s business results.

Development of New Products
The Fujitec Group continually carries out activities for the development 
of new products that are matched to customer needs. In the elevator 
and escalator industry, where the Fujitec Group operates, customer 
needs are diversifying in step with the maturing of markets. On the 
other hand, product development competition among leading 
manufacturers worldwide is fierce and there is a possibility of being 
driven out of the market by failing to adapt in a timely manner to 
leading-edge technological trends.
 Under such conditions, not being able to adequately forecast 
industry and market changes and develop appealing new products 
could lower the Fujitec Group’s future growth and profitability and have 
an adverse impact on its financial condition and business results.

Price Competition
In domestic and overseas markets, where the Fujitec Group undertakes 
business, there is ongoing fierce competition with competitors that 
include leading manufacturers carrying out business on a global scale. 
In addition, it is expected to be a continued trend toward business 
dominance by increasing market share. In particular, there has been an 
intensification of price competition for products and services introduced 
into the market at even lower prices as part of business development of 
competing companies and a business strategy of business alliances that 
include mutual competitors. This could have an adverse impact on the 
Fujitec Group’s financial condition and business results.

Manufacturer’s Liability
The Fujitec Group undertakes integrated production, sales, installation 
and maintenance of elevators, escalators and moving walks, and in 
each business process conforms with the laws, regulations and 
guidelines applicable in each market. Also, the Fujitec Group makes 
adequate considerations to assure the safety of customers and users by 
offering products and services verified in accordance with its own 
internally established technical standards and safety standards. 
Nevertheless, an unforeseen product defect or usage by the user could 
cause equipment damage or an incident or even in certain instances an 
accident resulting in injury or death.
 In such circumstances, responsibility as a manufacturer could be 
called into question. This could have an adverse impact on the Fujitec 
Group’s financial condition and business results because of 
indemnification for damages or the loss of trust by society.

Joint Ventures
The Fujitec Group basically carries out business using its own capital. 
However, it undertakes business through joint ventures due to legal 
restrictions in some countries. One such principal country is China, 
where the Fujitec Group has extremely favorable relations with its joint 
venture partners and plans to continue mutually beneficial equitable 
relationships.
 Nonetheless, in the event of a change in a joint venture partner’s 
economic circumstances or policies concerning business development, 
the Fujitec Group cannot eliminate the possibility of re-evaluating the 
joint venture, replacing the joint venture partner or dissolving the joint 
relationship in the future. Such an event could have an adverse impact 
on the Fujitec Group’s financial condition and business results.

Latent Risks Associated with Global Business Development
As the Fujitec Group carries out global business development, the 
following latent risks could have an adverse impact on business 
development and business results.

1) Terrorism, wars, revolutions and other social upheaval
2) Occurrence of natural disasters such as earthquakes, typhoons  

and contagious disease pandemics
3) Unexpected changes in laws and regulations
4) Strikes by workers at seaports and airports or by persons in the 

transport industry
5) Interruption of production activities due to an infrastructure 

accident such as a power outage or interruption of the water 
supply at production bases

Raw Materials Prices
Procurement prices for raw materials such as steel stock, wire rope and 
stainless steel that make up the Fujitec Group’s products are 
susceptible to the impact of steel market conditions. Therefore, a rise in 
prices in the steel market will push up product manufacturing costs, 
which could have an adverse impact on the Fujitec Group’s business 
results.

Financing
The Fujitec Group carries out asset liability management (ALM) at each 
company and works to maintain adequate liquidity. However, the 
emergence of instability in the financial system and a change in the 
lending policies of financial institutions could have an adverse impact 
on the Fujitec Group’s financial condition. Through ALM, financing is 
being carried out to minimize the impact of a rise in financing costs. 
However, a large rise in interest rates could have an adverse impact on 
the Fujitec Group’s business results.

Exchange Rate Fluctuations
The Fujitec Group is operating global production and procurement 
structures for mutually supplying products and components that are 
advantageous in terms of cost and quality, and works to minimize the 
adverse impact of exchange rate fluctuations on its business results. 
However, an unexpectedly rapid and large fluctuation in exchange rates 
could have an adverse impact on the Fujitec Group’s financial condition 
and business results.

Share Price Fluctuations
The net asset value of “other securities with a fair market value” held by 
the Fujitec Group could decrease due to a decline in share prices, 
which could have an adverse impact on the Fujitec Group’s financial 
condition.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
Fujitec Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
As of March 31, 2015 and 2014

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Time deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 Trade notes and accounts receivable:
  Unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 Inventories (Note 5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Deferred tax assets (Note 6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total current assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Investments and long-term loans:
 Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Investment securities (Note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Long-term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total investments and long-term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Property, plant and equipment, at cost (Note 7):
 Buildings and structures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Machinery, vehicles, tools, furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 Accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
 Construction in progress. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total property, plant and equipment, at cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Other assets:
 Deferred tax assets (Note 6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥  20,903 
20,309 

343 
41,774 
(1,263)
40,854 

19,930 
2,844 
6,432 

111,272 

752 
5,228 

16 
5,996 

27,890 
16,681 
44,571 

(22,666)
21,905 

6,925 
1,152 

29,982 

736 
717 

3,159 
2,403 

¥154,265 

2015 20152014

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
 Short-term debt (Note 7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Current portion of long-term debt (Note 7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Trade notes and accounts payable:
  Unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Electronically recorded obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Advances from customers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Accrued income taxes (Note 6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Provision for bonuses to employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Provision for bonuses to directors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Provision for losses on construction contracts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Provision for warranties for completed construction . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Non-current liabilities:
 Long-term debt (Note 7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Deferred tax liabilities (Note 6). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net defined benefit liability (Note 11) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Retirement benefits for directors. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Asset retirement obligation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other non-current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total non-current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

NET ASSETS
Net assets:
 Shareholders’ equity (Note 9):
 Common stock:
  Authorized: 300,000,000 shares
  Issued: 93,767,317 shares at March 31, 2015 and 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Treasury stock, at cost (Note 10): 6,941,786 shares at March 31, 2015 and

1,077,349 shares at March 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . 
  Total shareholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income:
 Net unrealized gains on securities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Deferred gains or losses on hedges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Foreign currency translation adjustments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total accumulated other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Stock acquisition rights (Note 16) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Minority interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total net assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥    7,911 
352 

25 
15,222 

5,281 
22,534 

1,706 
3,241 

86 
6,422 

292 
8,334 

71,406 

1,379 
1,133 
1,103 

192 
21 

2 
3,830 

75,236 
 
 

 

12,534 
14,566 
75,239 

(7,827)
94,512 

2,435 
— 

(3,540)
(86)

(1,191)

56 
11,243 

104,620 
¥179,856 

$     65,925 
2,933 

208 
126,850 

44,008 
187,783 

14,217 
27,009 

717 
53,517 

2,433 
69,450 

595,050 

11,491 
9,442 
9,192 
1,600 

175 
17 

31,917 
626,967 

 
 
 

 

 

104,450 
121,383 
626,992 

(65,225)
787,600 

20,292 
— 

(29,500)
(717)

(9,925)

466 
93,692 

871,833 
$1,498,800 

¥       541 
508 

27 
16,992 

— 
17,326 

3,119 
2,905 

66 
5,346 

488 
7,031 

54,349 

1,271 
139 

4,790 
192 

20 
3 

6,415 
60,764 

 
 

 

12,534 
14,566 
67,406 

(1,079)
93,427 

1,538 
(2)

(9,864)
(529)

(8,857)

36 
8,895 

93,501 
¥154,265 

2015 20152014

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

¥  30,602 
21,072 

335 
52,849 
(1,445)
51,739 

20,554 
3,135 
5,032 

132,134 

956 
7,022 

14 
7,992 

29,932 
17,784 
47,716 

(24,639)
23,077 

6,949 
2,859 

32,885 

29 
686 

3,626 
2,504 

¥179,856 

$   255,017 
175,600 

2,792 
440,408 
(12,042)
431,158 

171,283 
26,125 
41,934 

1,101,117 

7,967 
58,516 

117 
66,600 

249,433 
148,200 
397,633 

(205,325)
192,308 

57,909 
23,825 

274,042 

 

242 
5,717 

30,216 
20,866 

$1,498,800 
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Net sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Operating cost and expenses:
 Cost of sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Selling, general and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total operating costs and expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Operating income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Other income (expenses):
 Interest and dividend income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Rent income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Foreign currency exchange gain, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  

Special items:
 Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Gain on sales of investment securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Loss on sales and disposal of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Write-down of an unconsolidated subsidiary’s investment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Impairment loss on fixed assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Loss on sales of investment securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Write-down of investment securities (Note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Special extra retirement payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  
  Income before income taxes and minority interests. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Income taxes (Note 6):
 Current. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Deferred . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Income before minority interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Minority interests in net income of consolidated subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Per share:
 Net income, based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding . . . . . . . 
 Deluted net income, based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding . . . 
 Cash dividends applicable to the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥165,297 

129,548 
22,261 

151,809 
13,488 

1,083 
(86)
184 
182 
(25)

1,338

4 
84 

(34)
(4)

(70)
— 
— 
— 

(20)
14,806 

4,428 
(109)

4,319 
10,487 

2,131 
¥    8,356 

¥    90.84 
90.79 
24.00 

$1,377,475 

1,079,567 
185,508 

1,265,075 
112,400 

9,025 
(717)

1,533 
1,517 
(208)

11,150 

33 
700 

(283)
(33)

(584)
— 
— 
— 

(167)
123,383 

36,900 
(909)

35,991 
87,392 

17,759 
  $     69,633 

$         0.76 
0.76 
0.20 

¥147,054 

114,245 
19,938 

134,183 
12,871 

793 
(79)
151 
388 

63 
1,316 

8 
— 

(26)
(34)
— 
(0)
(4)

(147)
(203)

13,984 

5,032 
(688)

4,344 
9,640 

1,976 
¥    7,664 

¥    82.32 
82.31 
22.00 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

Yen
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

Millions of Yen

Income before minority interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Other comprehensive income (Note 3):
 Net unrealized gains on securities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Deferred gains or losses on hedges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Foreign currency translation adjustments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other comprehensive income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Comprehensive income attributable to:
 Comprehensive income attributable to owners of parent . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥10,487 
 

898 
2 

7,513 
443 

8,856 
¥19,343 

16,022 
3,321 

$  87,392 

7,483 
17 

62,608 
3,692 

73,800 
$161,192 

133,517 
27,675 

¥  9,640 
 

517 
(2)

9,295 
― 

9,810 
¥19,450 

15,904 
3,546 

2015 20152014

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Fujitec Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014

Fujitec Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets      Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Fujitec Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries   
Years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014

Fujitec Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
 Income before income taxes and minority interests. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Increase in provision for bonuses to employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Increase in provision for losses on construction contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Interest and dividends income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Increase in trade notes and accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Decrease (increase) in inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Increase in trade notes and accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 (Gain) loss on sales of investment securities, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Write-down of investment securities, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Increase in advances from customers . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Decrease in net defined benefit liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Sub-total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

 Payment of income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Net cash provided by operating activities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Cash flows from investing activities:
 Decrease (increase) in time deposits, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Purchase of intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Proceeds from sales of investment securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Collection of loans receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Interest and dividends income received . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Cash flows from financing activities:
 Increase (decrease) in short-term debt, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Proceeds from long-term debt. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Repayment of long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Repayment of lease obligations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Purchase of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Payment of interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cash dividends paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Repayment to a minority shareholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other, net. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Net cash used in financing activities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥14,806 
2,373 

23 
171 
937 

(1,083)
86 

(7,102)
1,137 
1,726 

(84)
— 

2,878 
(2)
32 

(252)
1,137 

16,783 

(6,030)
10,753 

1,651 
(3,867)

11 
(325)
179 

1,856 
1,079 

(1,203)
(619)

7,079 
523 

(711)
— 

(6,894)
(81)

(2,338)
(956)

(3)
156 

(3,225)

2,790 
9,699 

20,903 
¥30,602 

$123,383 
19,775 

192 
1,425 
7,808 

(9,025)
717 

(59,183)
9,475 

14,383 
(700)

— 
23,983 

(17)
267 

(2,100)
9,475 

139,858 

(50,250)
89,608 

13,758 
(32,225)

92 
(2,708)
1,492 

15,467 
8,991 

(10,025)
(5,158)

58,992 
4,358 

(5,925)
— 

(57,450)
(675)

(19,483)
(7,967)

(25)
1,300 

(26,875)

23,250 
80,825 

174,192 
$255,017 

¥13,984 
2,237 

101 
336 

1,719 
(793)

79 
(5,929)
(3,403)
1,105 

0 
4 

2,515 
(7)
25 

(208)
892 

12,657 

(3,363)
9,294 

(974)
(2,007)

28 
(292)
100 
272 
760 

(542)
(2,655)

(189)
1,722 

(1,568)
(4)

(1,012)
(75)

(1,777)
(827)
(172)

79 
(3,823)

2,568 
5,384 

15,519 
¥20,903 

2015 20152014

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

Balance at April 1, 2013. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cash dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Purchase of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Disposal of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net change in the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Balance at April 1, 2014. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cumulative effects of changes in accounting policies . . . . 
Restated balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cash dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Purchase of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Disposal of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net change in the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Balance at March 31, 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥88,485 
(1,778)
7,664 

(1,012)
68 

93,427 
1,816 

95,243 
(2,339)
8,356 

(6,894)
146 

¥94,512 

¥   (135)

(1,012)
68 

(1,079)

(1,079)

(6,894)
146 

¥(7,827)

¥61,520 
(1,778)
7,664 

67,406 
1,816 

69,222 
(2,339)
8,356 

¥75,239 

¥14,566 

14,566 

14,566 

¥14,566 

¥12,534 

12,534 

12,534 

¥12,534 

93,767 

93,767 

93,767 

Total
Treasury stock,

at cost
Retained
earnings

Additional
paid-in capitalCommon stock

Number of
shares of common

stock issued

Shareholders’ equity
Millions of YenThousands

Balance at April 1, 2013. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Cash dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Purchase of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Disposal of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net change in the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Balance at April 1, 2014. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cumulative effects of changes in accounting policies . . . . 
Restated balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cash dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Purchase of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Disposal of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net change in the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Balance at March 31, 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Stock
acquisition

rights
Minority
interests

Total
net assetsTotal

Remeasurements
of defined

benefit plans

Foreign currency
translation

adjustments

Deferred
gains or losses

on hedges

Net unrealized
gains on
securities

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Millions of Yen

¥ — 

36 
36 

36 

20 
¥ 56 

¥(16,568)

7,711 
(8,857)

(8,857)

7,666 
¥  (1,191)

¥    — 

(529)
(529)

(529)

443 
¥  (86)

¥(17,589)

7,725 
(9,864)

(9,864)

6,324 
¥  (3,540)

¥ — 

(2)
(2)

(2)

2 
¥ — 

¥1,021 

517 
1,538 

1,538 

897 
¥2,435 

¥ 6,355 

2,540 
8,895 

8,895 

2,348 
¥11,243 

¥  78,272 
(1,778)
7,664 

(1,012)
68 

10,287 
93,501 

1,816 
95,317 
(2,339)
8,356 

(6,894)
146 

10,034 
¥104,620 

Balance at April 1, 2014. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cumulative effects of changes in accounting policies . . . . 
Restated balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cash dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Purchase of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Disposal of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net change in the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Balance at March 31, 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Total
Treasury stock,

at cost
Retained
earnings

Additional
paid-in capitalCommon stock

Number of
shares of common

stock issued

Shareholders’ equity
Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)Thousands

$778,558 
15,134 

793,692 
(19,491)
69,633 

(57,450)
1,216 

$787,600 

$  (8,991)

(8,991)

(57,450)
1,216 

$(65,225)

$561,716 
15,134 

576,850 
(19,491)
69,633 

$626,992 

$121,383 

121,383 

$121,383 

$104,450 

104,450 

$104,450 

93,767 

 

93,767 

Balance at April 1, 2014. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cumulative effects of changes in accounting policies . . . . 
Restated balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cash dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Purchase of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Disposal of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net change in the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Balance at March 31, 2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Stock
acquisition

rights
Minority
interests

Total
net assetsTotal

Remeasurements
of defined

benefit plans

Foreign currency
translation

adjustments

Deferred
gains or losses

on hedges

Net unrealized
gains on
securities

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

$300 

300 

166 
$466 

$(73,808)

(73,808)

63,883 
$  (9,925)

$(4,408)

(4,408)

3,691 
$   (717)

$(82,200)

(82,200)

52,700 
$(29,500)

$(17)

(17)

17 
$  — 

$12,817 

12,817 

7,475 
$20,292 

$74,125 

74,125 

19,567 
$93,692 

$779,175 
15,134 

794,309 
(19,491)
69,633 

(57,450)
1,216 

83,616 
$871,833 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Fujitec Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fujitec Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries have 
been restructured and translated into English from the consolidated financial statements issued domestically, prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan and filed with the Financial Services Agency, as required by 
the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan. For the purpose of this Annual Report, certain reclassifications have been 
made to present the accompanying financial statements in a form more familiar to readers outside Japan. 

U.S. dollar amounts, included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements solely for the convenience of readers, 
have been arithmetically translated from all yen amounts on a basis of ¥120=$1, the prevailing exchange rate as of March 31, 
2015. The translation should not be construed as a representation that yen could be converted into U.S. dollars at the above or 
any other rate.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(A) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2015 and 2014 include the accounts of the Company and the following 
19 significant subsidiaries (together the “Companies”).

Fujitec America, Inc. (U.S.A.)
Fujitec Canada, Inc. (Canada)
Fujitec UK Ltd. (United Kingdom)
Fujitec Deutschland GmbH (Germany)
Fujitec Singapore Corpn. Ltd. (Singapore)
FSP Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)
P.T. Fujitec Indonesia (Indonesia)
Fujitec (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)
Fujitec Holdings Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)
Fujitec M&E Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)
Fujitec India Private Ltd. (India)
Fujitec (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (Thailand)
Huasheng Fujitec Elevator Co., Ltd. (China)
Shanghai Huasheng Fujitec Escalator Co., Ltd. (China) 
Fujitec Shanghai Sourcing Center Co., Ltd. (China)
Fujitec (HK) Co., Ltd. (Hong Kong)
Rich Mark Engineering Limited (Hong Kong)
Fujitec Taiwan Co., Ltd. (Taiwan)
Fujitec Korea Co., Ltd. (Korea)

The closing date of the above consolidated subsidiaries is December 31.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, using consolidated subsidiaries’ accounts based on their own closing dates, 
the necessary adjustments have been made for the significant intercompany transactions incurred from the consolidated 
subsidiaries’ closing date to the consolidated balance sheet date.

All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated. Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries (more 
than 50% owned) and affiliates (20% to 50% owned) are carried at cost due to their immateriality as a whole. If a decline in 
value below the cost of an individual security is judged to be material, and other than temporary, the carrying value of the 
individual security is written down.

(B) Translation of foreign currency transactions

Every monetary asset and liability denominated in foreign currency is translated into Japanese yen at the rate of exchange in 
effect at each individual balance sheet date, and the resulting exchange gains or losses are recognized in the consolidated 
statements of income.

(C) Translation of consolidated foreign subsidiaries’ accounts

All assets and liabilities of foreign consolidated subsidiaries are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rates in effect at 
their balance sheet date. When a significant change in exchange rate occurs between the foreign consolidated subsidiaries’ 
balance sheet date and the consolidated balance sheet date, their assets and liabilities are translated into Japanese yen at the 
exchange rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date. The items of shareholders’ equity are translated at the historical 
rates at the dates of acquisition, and profit and loss accounts are translated into Japanese yen at the annual average rates.

Any resulting foreign currency translation differences are shown as “Foreign currency translation adjustments” and “Minority 
interests” in a separate component of net assets.

(D) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated statements of cash flows are composed of cash on hand, deposits on demand 
placed at banks and highly liquid investments with insignificant risk of changes in value which have maturities of three months or 
less when purchased.

(E) Investments in securities

The Companies classify their securities into equity investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates, or other securities 
that are not classified in any of the above categories.

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates are valued at cost, as determined by the moving-average method. 
Marketable equity securities and debt securities not classified as held-to-maturity are classified as other securities.

Other securities with a fair market value are stated at fair value with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate 
component of net assets. Realized gains and losses, and significant declines in value judged to be other than temporary on those 
securities, are charged to income.

Other securities without a fair market value are stated at cost, as determined by the moving-average method.

(F) Inventories

Inventories are generally stated at cost determined by the specific identification method or the moving-average method. (Balance 
sheet amounts are written down based on any decline in profitability.)

(G) Property, plant and equipment, and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, including significant renewals and additions, are stated at cost. 

Depreciation is mainly computed by the declining-balance method. A part of the foreign consolidated subsidiaries uses the 
straight-line method. 

Buildings of the Company which were acquired on or after April 1, 1998 are depreciated by the straight-line method, while the 
depreciation for buildings was computed by the declining-balance method until the year ended March 31, 1998.

The estimated useful life for depreciation:
   Buildings and structures: 3 to 50 years
   Machinery, vehicles, tools, furniture and fixtures: 2 to 20 years
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(H) Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 years for consolidation.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost determined by the straight-line method. Own-use software is stated at cost determined 
by the straight-line method over its estimated useful life (5 years).

(I) Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company has adopted the Japanese accounting standard “Accounting Standard for Impairment of Fixed Assets” and 
evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held for use in the business. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset is 
impaired, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of the net selling price or the value in use of the assets, which is determined as the discounted cash flows 
generated from continuing use of the individual asset or the asset’s group.

(J) Income taxes

Income taxes comprise corporate income tax, inhabitant tax and enterprise tax. The asset and liability approach is used to 
recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax bases.

(K) Provisions

(1) Allowance for doubtful accounts
An allowance for doubtful accounts is stated to provide against the bad debt loss of accounts receivable and loans receivable, etc. 
An allowance for general receivables is calculated by the percentage-of-receivables method, and doubtful receivables are 
estimated by analysis of specific individual receivables.

(2) Provision for bonuses to employees
Provision for bonuses to employees is calculated on an accrual basis for the financial year on the expected amount to be paid to 
the employees.

(3) Provision for bonuses to directors
Provision for bonuses to directors is calculated on an accrual basis for the financial year on the expected amount to be paid to the 
directors.

(4) Provision for losses on construction contracts
When it is estimated reliably that the total construction costs will exceed total construction revenue, an estimated loss on the 
contract is recognized by providing for losses on construction contracts.

(5) Provision for warranties for completed construction
Provision for warranties for completed construction is recognized at an estimated amount of compensation to be incurred in the 
future for completed construction.

(L) Accounting method for retirement benefits

(1) Period allocation method for the estimated retirement benefit amount 
Retirement benefit obligations are calculated by allocating the estimated retirement benefit amount until the end of the current 
consolidated fiscal year on a benefit formula basis.

(2) Amortization of actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs
Unrecognized actuarial gains or losses are amortized beginning in the following consolidated fiscal year by the straight-line 
method over a specified number of years (10 years) within the average remaining service period of employees at the time the 
difference arose.

Prior service costs are amortized by the straight-line method over a specified number of years (10 years) within the average 
remaining service period of employees at the time the cost was incurred.

For certain consolidated subsidiaries, a simplified method is applied for the calculation of net defined benefit liability and 
retirement benefit expenses in which the necessary retirement benefit provisions for voluntary resignations at the end of the 
consolidated fiscal year are recorded as retirement benefit obligations.

(M) Derivative and hedging activities

The Companies use derivative financial instruments including foreign currency exchange forward contracts and interest rate swap 
contracts, in order to hedge the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, not to enter into 
derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

All derivatives, except for those which meet deferral hedge accounting requirements, are stated at fair value and recognized as 
either assets or liabilities, and gains or losses on derivative transactions are recognized in earnings.

When the derivative financial instruments have high correlation and effectiveness between the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item, deferral hedge accounting applies to them, and the gains or losses are deferred until maturity of the hedged transaction.

Because the counterparties to the derivatives are limited to major international financial institutions, the Companies do not 
anticipate any losses arising from credit risk.

(N) Leases

Finance leases, other than those which are deemed to transfer the ownership of leased assets to the lessee, are accounted for in a 
way similar to purchases, and depreciation for lease assets is computed using the straight-line method with zero residual value 
over the lease term.

(O) Revenue recognition

The Company applies the percentage-of-completion method if the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably. 
Otherwise, the completed-contract method is applied. The percentage of construction progress is estimated based on the 
percentage of the cost incurred to the estimated total cost.

Generally, foreign subsidiaries record income from construction contracts using the percentage-of-completion method.

Maintenance services not covered by warranty are provided on a fee basis and revenues from such services are included in net 
sales.

Currently the Company and its foreign subsidiaries recognize the total estimated loss when estimates indicate that a loss will be 
incurred on a contract.

(P) Research and development costs

Research and development costs are charged against income as incurred.

(Q) Net income and cash dividends per share

Net income per share of common stock is computed by net income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted 
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during each year.

Diluted net income per share assumes the dilution that would occur if stock acquisition rights were exercised.

Cash dividends per share represent actual amounts applicable to the respective years for which the dividends were proposed by 
the Board of Directors of the Company. Dividends are charged to retained earnings in the year which they are paid.

(R) Reclassification of accounts

Certain reclassifications have been made in the 2014 financial statements to conform to the presentation in 2015.
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Millions of Yen
2015

Acquisition
cost 

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses

Book value
(Estimated
fair value)

¥3,358 
¥3,358 

¥3,553 
¥3,553 

¥     12 
¥     12 

¥6,899 
¥6,899 

2014

Acquisition
cost 

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses

Book value
(Estimated
fair value)

¥2,754 
¥2,754 

¥2,385 
¥2,385 

¥     34 
¥     34 

¥5,105 
¥5,105 

(S) Changes in accounting policies, procedures and presentation in preparation of the consolidated financial statements

Adoption of “Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits”
The Company has adopted the “Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits” (Accounting Standards Board of Japan (ASBJ) 
Statement No. 26 issued on May 17, 2012) and the “Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits” (ASBJ 
Guidance No. 25 issued March 26, 2015) pursuant to the provisions in the text of Article 35 of the Accounting Standard for 
Retirement Benefits and the text of Article 67 of the Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits from the end of 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.

Under this accounting standard, the Company reviewed the calculation methods of retirement benefit obligations and service 
costs, changed the method of attributing expected retirement benefits from a straight-line basis to a benefit formula basis and 
changed the method of determining the discount rate from the discount rate based on the average remaining service period of 
employees to a single weighted average discount rate.

Regarding the adoption of the standard for retirement benefits, in accordance with the transitional treatment stipulated in Article 
37 of the Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits, the impact of the change was recorded in retained earnings at the 
beginning of the current consolidated fiscal year.

As a result, net defined benefit liability decreased by ¥2,821 million (US$23,508 thousand) and retained earnings increased by 
¥1,816 million (US$15,134 thousand) at the beginning of the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, while operating 
income, ordinary income and income before income taxes and minority interests for the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 
2015 decreased by ¥60 million (US$500 thousand).

Adoption of “Practical Solution on Transactions of Delivering the Company’s Own Stock to Employees etc. through 
Trusts”
The Company has adopted the “Practical Solution on Transactions of Delivering the Company’s Own Stock to Employees etc. 
through Trusts” (ASBJ Practical Issue Task Force No. 30 issued on March 26, 2015) from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.

Profit or loss related to sales of shares by the trust to the employee shareholding association, dividends paid by the Company on 
shares held by the trust and net expenses related to the trust are included by the Company as liabilities. There is no impact of this 
change in the accounting policy.

(T) Additional information

Transactions to transfer the Company’s shares to the employees through a trust
To enhance employee benefits and welfare, the Company conducts the transactions of delivering its own shares to the employee 
shareholding association through a trust.

(1) Outline of the transactions

The Company established a trust on September 25, 2013, beneficiaries of which shall be employees who belong to “Fujitec’s 
Employee Shareholding Association” (the “Association”) and meet certain requirements. The trust will, within a time period to be 
fixed in advance, purchase a certain number of the Company’s shares, which the Association is expected to purchase for six years 
from September 2013. Subsequently, the trust will sell those shares to the Association each month at a certain fixed date.

(2) The Company’s shares remaining in the trust

The Company’s shares remaining in the trust are recorded as treasury stock under net assets through the book value (excluding 
associated costs) in the trust. The book value and number of treasury stock in the trust as of March 31, 2015 and 2014 were 
¥784 million (US$6,533 thousand) and 727 thousand shares, and ¥930 million and 862 thousand shares, respectively.

(3) The book value of loans recorded using the gross price method as of March 31, 2015 and 2014 was ¥748 million (US$6,233 
thousand) and ¥919 million, respectively.

Equity securities. . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥1,190 
— 

1,190 
(292)
898 

— 
2 
2 

— 
2 

7,513 
— 

7,513 
— 

7,513 

523 
172 
695 

(252)
443 

¥8,856 

$  9,917 
— 

9,917 
(2,434)
7,483 

— 
17 
17 
— 
17 

62,608 
— 

62,608 
— 

62,608 

4,358 
1,434 
5,792 

(2,100)
3,692 

$73,800 

¥     799 
4 

803 
(286)
517 

(2)
— 
(2)
— 
(2)

9,295 
— 

9,295 
— 

9,295 

— 
— 
— 
— 
— 

¥9,810

2015 20152014

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

4. Investment Securities 

Available-for-sale securities at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are summarized as follows:

3. Other Comprehensive Income

Reclassification adjustments and tax effect of each component of other comprehensive income for the years ended March 31, 
2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Net unrealized gains on securities:
 Arising during the fiscal year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Reclassification adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Sub-total, before tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Tax effect. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Net unrealized gains on securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Deferred gains or losses on hedges:
 Arising during the fiscal year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Reclassification adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Sub-total, before tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Tax effect. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Deferred gains or losses on hedges . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Foreign currency translation adjustments:
 Arising during the fiscal year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Reclassification adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Sub-total, before tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Tax effect. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Foreign currency translation adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans
 Arising during the fiscal year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Reclassification adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Sub-total, before tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Tax effect. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Remeasurements of defined benefit plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Total other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note1)
2015

Acquisition
cost 

Gross
unrealized

gains

Gross
unrealized

losses

Book value
(Estimated
fair value)

$27,983 
$27,983 

$29,608 
$29,608 

$100 
$100 

$57,491 
$57,491 

Equity securities. . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

The carrying amounts of equity securities whose fair value is not readily determinable are ¥123 million (US$1,025 thousand) and 
¥123 million for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
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Current assets—Deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Other assets—Deferred tax assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Current liabilities—Deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Non-current liabilities—Deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥ 3,135 
 29 
 — 

(1,133)
¥ 2,031 

$ 26,125 
242 
 — 

(9,442)
$ 16,925 

¥ 2,844 
 736 

— 
(139)

¥ 3,441 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities presented in the consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

(2) A reconciliation between the Company’s statutory tax rate and the effective income tax rate at March 31, 2015 
and 2014 is as follows:

(3) Change in the statutory effective tax rate

The “Act for Partial Amendment of the Income Tax Act, etc.” (Act No. 9 of 2015) and the “Act for Partial Amendment of the 
Local Tax Act, etc.” (Act No. 2 of 2015) were promulgated on March 31, 2015 and the corporate income tax rate was reduced 
from the fiscal year beginning April 1, 2015. As a result, the statutory tax rate used to measure the Company’s deferred tax assets 
and liabilities was changed from 35.64% to 33.10% for the temporary differences expected to be realized in the fiscal year 
beginning April 1, 2015, and to 32.34% for those expected to be realized from the fiscal year beginning April 1, 2016.

The effect of the reduction of the effective statutory tax rate decreased deferred tax assets after offsetting deferred tax liabilities 
by ¥96 million (US$800 thousand) and increased deferred income taxes, net unrealized gains on securities and remeasurements 
of defined benefit plans by ¥205 million (US$1,708 thousand), ¥112 million (US$933 thousand) and minus ¥4 million (minus 
US$33 thousand), respectively, as of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015.

(2) The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt outstanding as of March 31, 2015 are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:
 Net defined benefit liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Provision for bonuses to employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Provision for losses on construction contracts. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Allowance for doubtful accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Tax loss carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Less: valuation allowance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Deferred tax liabilities:
 Unrealized gains on securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Dividends income received from subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
  Total deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
      Net deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥        248 
 586 

 1,738 
 614 

 4,200 
1,247 
8,633 

(5,164)
3,469 

(1,105)
(38)

(295)
(1,438)

¥  2,031 

$   2,067 
4,883 

14,483 
5,117 

35,000 
10,392 
71,942 

(43,034)
28,908 

(9,208)
(317)

(2,458)
(11,983)

$   16,925 

¥        1,565 
 590 

 1,562 
 312 

 3,737 
1,572 
9,338 

(4,818)
4,520 

(812)
(31)

(236)
(1,079)

¥  3,441 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Year ending March 31,

2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥352 
592 

18 
18 

3 
¥983 

$2,933 
4,933 

150 
150 

25 
$8,191 

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Statutory tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Non-deductible expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Per capita inhabitant tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Net loss of consolidated subsidiaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Effect of foreign tax rate differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Difference of change in tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Effective tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

38.01 
0.13 
1.66 
0.86 

(0.90)
(10.62)

— 
1.92 

31.06 

%

%

35.64 
0.13 
1.72 
0.81 

(1.60)
(8.64)
1.17 

(0.06)
29.17 

%

%

20142015

Loans, mainly from banks and insurance companies
 due through 2020 at weighted average interest rates
 of 0.88% in 2015 and 2014. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 
Less, portion due within one year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

$ 14,424 
14,424 
 2,933 

$ 11,491

  
  

¥  1,779 
1,779 

508 
¥  1,271 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

    
    
¥  1,731 

1,731 
    352 

¥  1,379 

Finished goods and semi-finished goods . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Work in process . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Raw materials and supplies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥  6,333 
6,403 
7,818 

¥20,554 

$  52,775 
53,358 
65,150 

$171,283 

¥  4,841 
7,060 
8,029 

¥19,930 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

6. Income Taxes 

The Company is subject to corporate income tax, inhabitant tax and enterprise tax, based on income which, in the aggregate, 
indicates a normal statutory tax rate of approximately 35.64% and 38.01% for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively. Income tax rates of the consolidated foreign subsidiaries range from 16.5% to 34.0% for the years ended March 31, 
2015 and 2014.

(1) The major components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are summarized as follows:

7. Short-term Debt and Long-term Debt 

Short-term debt represents notes payable mainly to banks with the weighted average interest rate of 0.58% per annum at March 
31, 2015 and 2.21% per annum at March 31, 2014.

(1) Long-term debt at March 31, 2015 and 2014 consists of the following:

5. Inventories 

Inventories at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are comprised of the following
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Notes: (1) Long-term debt for the ESOP in the amount of ¥748 million (US$6,233 thousand) is excluded from the total amounts.
          (2) As of March 31, 2015, the following assets and liabilities are pledged as collateral for transactions with a bank:

*1 The increase in the number of shares of treasury stock consists mainly of 6,000 thousand shares due to the purchase of shares 
based on the resolution of the Board of Directors meeting held on February 12, 2015. The decrease in the number of shares of 
treasury stock of 135 thousand shares is due to sales of shares by the ESOP Trust supporting the employee shareholding 
association to the Company’s employee shareholding association.

*2 The increase in the number of shares of treasury stock consists of 926 thousand shares due to introduction of the ESOP Trust 
supporting the employee shareholding association and 11 thousand shares due to the purchase of fractional shares of less than 
one voting unit. The decrease in the number of shares of treasury stock of 63 thousand shares is due to sales of shares by the 
ESOP Trust supporting the employee shareholding association to the Company’s employee shareholding association.

(2) Changes to the balance of pension assets at the beginning and end of the period as of March 31, 2015 and 
2014 (except adoption of the simplified accounting method)

(3) Changes to the balance of net defined benefit liability at the beginning and end of the period as of March 31, 
2015 and 2014 (only adoption of the simplified accounting method)

Future minimum lease payments: 
 Due within one year. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Due after one year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥140 
 149 

¥289 

$ 1,167 
1,242 

 $2,409 

¥173 
258 

¥431 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Beginning balance of pension assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Expected return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Actuarial gains and losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Employer contribution . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Retirement benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
End balance of pension assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥  9,373 
187 
731 
946 

(417)
¥10,820 

$78,109 
1,558 
6,092 
7,883 

(3,475)
$90,167 

¥8,202 
164 
444 
941 

(378)
¥9,373 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Beginning balance of net defined benefit liability. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Retirement benefit expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Retirement benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Contribution to plan. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
End balance of net defined benefit liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥748 
124 
(85)
 — 
77 

¥864 

$6,233 
1,033 
(708)

 — 
642 

$7,200 

¥541 
98 

(26)
(0)

135 
¥748 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Property, plant and equipment (at net book value) and other assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Short-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥1,679 
— 

$13,992 
— 

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

8. Leases 

The amounts related to non-cancellable operating lease assets at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Beginning balance of retirement benefit obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Cumulative effects of changes in accounting policies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Restated balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Actuarial gains and losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Retirement benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Prior service costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
End balance of retirement benefit obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥13,415 
(2,821)

¥10,594 
760 
159 
209 

(667)
0 
4 

¥11,059 

$111,792 
(23,508)

$  88,284 
6,333 
1,325 
1,742 

(5,558)
0 

33 
$  92,159 

¥13,004 
— 

¥13,004 
637 
195 
135 

(559)
0 
3 

¥13,415 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

11. Retirement Benefits 

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries adopt funded and non-funded defined benefit plans, and defined contribution 
plans, which cover substantially all employees. 

The Company adopts defined benefit pension plans and lump-sum severance payment plans. Its consolidated subsidiaries adopt 
mainly lump-sum severance payment plans and defined contribution pension plans.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries calculate net defined benefit liability and retirement benefit expenses using the simplified 
accounting method.

1. Defined benefit plans

(1) Changes to the balance of retirement benefit obligations at the beginning and end of the period as of March 31, 
2015 and 2014 (except adoption of the simplified accounting method)

9. Shareholders’ Equity 

Under the Corporate Law of Japan (the “Companies Act”), the entire amount paid for new shares must be designated as common 
stock. However, a company may, by resolution of the Board of Directors, designate an amount not exceeding one-half of the price 
of the new shares as additional paid-in capital.

The Companies Act provides that an amount equal to 10% of dividends must be appropriated as a legal reserve (a component of 
retained earnings) or as additional paid-in capital, depending on the equity account charged upon the payment of such dividends, 
until the aggregate amount of legal reserve and additional paid-in capital equals 25% of common stock. Under the Companies 
Act, the total amount of additional paid-in capital and legal reserve may be reversed without limitation. The Companies Act also 
provides that common stock, legal reserve, additional paid-in capital, other capital surplus and retained earnings can be 
transferred among the accounts under certain conditions by resolution of the shareholders.

10. Treasury Stock

Increase and decrease in treasury stock for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 are summarized as follows:

Treasury stock*1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,077

April 1, 2014

6,000

Increase

135

Decrease

6,942

March 31, 2015

203

April 1, 2013

937

Increase

63

Decrease

1,077

March 31, 2014

2015

Number of shares (Thousands)

Treasury stock*2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

2014

Number of shares (Thousands)
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(4) Changes to the balance of retirement benefit obligations and pension assets at the end of the period as of March 
31, 2015 and 2014, and net defined benefit liability and asset recorded in the consolidated balance sheets 
(included adoption of the simplified accounting method)

(5) Retirement benefit expenses and the breakdown of amounts

Funded retirement benefit obligations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Pension assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Non-funded retirement benefit obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Net liabilities and assets recorded in the consolidated balance sheets . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Net defined benefit liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Net defined benefit asset. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Net liabilities and assets recorded in the consolidated balance sheets . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥  8,891 
(10,820)

(1,929)
3,032 
1,103 
1,103 

 — 
¥  1,103 

$ 74,092 
(90,167)
(16,075)
25,267 

9,192 
9,192 

— 
$   9,192 

¥10,784 
(9,373)
1,411 
3,379 
4,790 
4,790 

— 
¥  4,790 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Interest cost. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Expected return on plan assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Amortization of actuarial gains and losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Amortization of prior service costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Retirement benefit expenses calculated by the simplified accounting method. . . . . . . 
Retirement benefit expenses under defined benefit plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥   760 
159 

(187)
170 

2 
124 

¥1,028 

$ 6,333 
1,325 

(1,558)
1,417 

17 
1,033 

$ 8,567 

¥ 637 
195 

(164)
171 

2 
98 

¥ 939 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Prior service costs. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Actuarial gains and losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥    2 
693 

¥695 

$     17 
5,775 

 $5,792 

¥ — 
— 

¥ — 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Unrecognized prior service costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

¥  13 
114 

¥127 

$   108
950

$1,058

¥  15 
807 

¥822 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Equity securities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
General accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

51
34
10

5
100

%

%

53
28
10

9
100

%

%

20142015

Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Expected long-term rate of return . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

1.5
2.0

%
%

1.5
2.0

%
%

20142015

(6) Remeasurements of defined benefit plans

The breakdown of items recorded in remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before deduction of tax effects) as of March 31, 
2015 and 2014 is as follows:

(7) Accumulated remeasurements of defined benefit plans

The breakdown of items recorded in accumulated remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before deduction of tax effects) as of 
March 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

(8) Items related to pension assets

(A) Breakdown of main items
Ratio for each main classification for total pension assets

(B) Method for determining expected long-term rate of return
In determining the expected long-term rate of return, the Company considers current and expected distributions of pension assets 
and the current and expected long-term rate of return from the various assets composed of pension assets.

(9) Items related to the basis for actuarial calculation

Main basis for actuarial calculation as of March 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

2. Defined contribution plans

Required contributions to defined contribution plans by the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the years ended March 
31, 2015 and 2014 are ¥80 million (US$667 thousand) and ¥77 million, respectively.

13. Segment Information 

(1) Description of reporting segments

The Companies’ reporting segments are components for which separate financial information is available, and whose operating 
results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker in order for the Board of Directors to determine allocation of 
resources and assess segment performance.

The Companies mainly manufacture, sell, install and maintain elevators and escalators. The Company takes charge of the 
domestic market, and overseas, each of the independent local subsidiaries is responsible for markets in North America (U.S.A. 
and Canada), Europe (United Kingdom and Germany), South Asia (mainly Singapore) and East Asia (China, Hong Kong, Taiwan 
and Korea). Each regional business unit develops comprehensive strategies for selling products and operating its business.

Therefore, the Fujitec Group is composed of regional segments based on the consistent system of manufacturing, sales, 
installation and maintenance, and has five reporting segments: Japan, North America, Europe, South Asia and East Asia. 

(2) Methods of measurement for sales, profit (loss), assets and other items for reporting segments

The amount of segment profit (loss) corresponds to its operating income. Intersegment sales and transfer prices are calculated 
mainly based on market value or manufacturing cost.

12. Research and Development Costs 

Research and development costs for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 are ¥2,023 million (US$16,858 thousand) and 
¥1,976 million, respectively.
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Sales to customers . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Intersegment sales . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Total sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment profit (loss). . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Other items:
  Depreciation and amortization . . 
  Amortization of goodwill. . . . . . . 
  Increase in property, 
   plant and equipment 
   and intangible assets . . . . . . . . 

¥61,867 
3,647 

65,514 
60,365 

5,149 
82,753 

1,473 
— 

1,562 

Japan

¥17,716 
20 

17,736 
18,318 

(582)
8,796 

86 
106 

50 

North America 

¥595 
6 

601 
602 

(1)
519 

3 
— 

6 

Europe

¥15,499 
0 

15,499 
13,940 

1,559 
14,909 

134 
— 

79 

South Asia

¥69,620 
6,621 

76,241 
68,913 

7,328 
96,352 

677 
8 

2,714 

East Asia

¥165,297 
10,294 

175,591 
162,138 

13,453 
203,329 

2,373 
114 

4,411 

Total

      ¥         — 
(10,294)
(10,294)
(10,329)

35 
(23,473)

— 
— 

— 

Reconciliations

¥165,297 
— 

165,297 
151,809 

13,488 
179,856 

2,373 
114 

4,411 

Consolidated

Reporting Segment

2015

Millions of Yen

Sales to customers . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Intersegment sales . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Total sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment profit (loss). . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Other items:
  Depreciation and amortization . . 
  Amortization of goodwill. . . . . . . 
  Increase in property, 
   plant and equipment 
   and intangible assets . . . . . . . . 

$515,559 
30,391 

545,950 
503,042 

42,908 
689,608 

12,275 
—

13,016 

$147,633 
167 

147,800 
152,650 

(4,850)
73,300 

716 
883 

417 

$4,958 
50 

5,008 
5,016 

(8)
4,325 

25 
— 

50 

$129,158 
0 

129,158 
116,167 

12,991 
124,242 

 
1,117 

— 

658 

$580,167 
55,175 

635,342 
574,275 

61,067 
802,933 

 
5,642 

67 

 
22,617 

$1,377,475 
85,783 

1,463,258 
1,351,150 

112,108 
1,694,408 

19,775 
950 

36,758 

$           — 
(85,783)
(85,783)
(86,075)

292 
(195,608)

— 
— 

— 

$1,377,475 
— 

1,377,475 
1,265,075 

112,400 
1,498,800 

19,775 
950 

36,758 

Reporting Segment

2015

Sales to customers . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Intersegment sales . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Total sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment profit (loss). . . . . . . . . . . 
Segment assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Other items:
  Depreciation and amortization . . 
  Amortization of goodwill. . . . . . . 
  Increase in property, 
   plant and equipment 
   and intangible assets . . . . . . . . 

¥58,502 
3,905 

62,407 
57,802 

4,605 
78,443 

1,485 
— 

1,185 

¥14,133 
33 

14,166 
14,192 

(26)
6,884 

85 
98 

18 

¥668 
5 

673 
668 

5 
541 

2 
— 

1 

¥13,023 
1 

13,024 
11,245 

1,779 
13,081 

96 
— 

131 

¥60,728 
5,636 

66,364 
59,694 

6,670 
73,684 

569 
— 

1,039 

¥147,054 
9,580 

156,634 
143,601 

13,033 
172,633 

2,237 
98 

2,374 

¥        — 
(9,580)
(9,580)
(9,418)

(162)
(18,368)

— 
— 

— 

¥147,054 
— 

147,054 
134,183 

12,871 
154,265 

2,237 
98 

2,374 

Reporting Segment

Millions of Yen

2014

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Japan North America Europe South Asia East Asia Total Reconciliations Consolidated

Japan North America Europe South Asia East Asia Total Reconciliations Consolidated

(3) Information on amounts of sales, profit (loss), assets and other items by reporting segment for the years ended 
March 31, 2015 and 2014 is summarized as follows:

Notes: (1) Description of reconciliations is as follows:
a) Reconciliations of segment profit (loss) for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 were ¥35 million (US$292 
thousand) and minus ¥162 million, respectively, consisting of intersegment transaction eliminations of ¥62 million 
(US$517 thousand) and ¥25 million and adjustment of inventories of minus ¥27 million (minus US$225 thousand) and 
minus ¥187 million, respectively.
b) Reconciliations of segment assets for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 were minus ¥23,473 million (minus 
US$195,608 thousand) and minus ¥18,368 million, respectively, consisting of intersegment transaction eliminations of 
minus ¥23,286 million (minus US$194,050 thousand) and minus ¥18,192 million and adjustment of inventories of 
minus ¥187 million (minus US$1,558 thousand) and minus ¥176 million, respectively.
(2) Segment income (loss) is adjusted with operating income in the consolidated statements of income.

(4) Information related to reporting segment

(A) Sales by geographical area are as follows:

Sales to customers . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥61,508
Japan

¥18,272
The Americas

¥16,315
South Asia

¥67,252
East Asia

¥1,950
Others

¥165,297
Total

2015

Millions of Yen

Sales to customers . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥58,339
Japan

¥15,063
The Americas

¥13,726
South Asia

¥58,073
East Asia

¥1,853
Others

¥147,054
Total

2014

Millions of Yen

Sales to customers . . . . . . . . . . . . $512,567
Japan

$152,267
The Americas

$135,958
South Asia

$560,433
East Asia

$16,250
Others

$1,377,475
Total

2015

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Note: Sales are classified in countries or regions based on the location of customers.
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Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥—
Japan

¥686
North America 

¥—
Europe

¥—
South Asia

¥— 
East Asia

¥686
Total

¥—
Reconciliations

¥686
Consolidated

Reporting Segment

2015

Millions of Yen

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥—
Japan

¥717
North America 

¥—
Europe

¥—
South Asia

¥—
East Asia

¥717
Total

¥—
Reconciliations

¥717 
Consolidated

Reporting Segment

2014

Millions of Yen

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $—
Japan

$5,717
North America 

$—
Europe

$—
South Asia

$—
East Asia

$5,717
Total

$—
Reconciliations

$5,717
Consolidated

Reporting Segment

2015

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Impairment loss on fixed assets . . . ¥70
Japan

¥—
North America 

¥—
Europe

¥—
South Asia

¥—
East Asia

¥70
Total

¥—
Reconciliations

¥70
Consolidated

Reporting Segment

2015

Millions of Yen

Impairment loss on fixed assets . . . ¥—
Japan

¥— 
North America 

¥—
Europe

¥—
South Asia

¥—
East Asia

¥—
Total

¥—
Reconciliations

¥—
Consolidated

Reporting Segment

2014

Millions of Yen

Impairment loss on fixed assets . . . $584
Japan

$—
North America 

$—
Europe

$—
South Asia

$—
East Asia

$584
Total

$—
Reconciliations

$584
Consolidated

Reporting Segment

2015

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Property, plant and equipment. . . . ¥22,034
Japan

¥473
North America 

¥1,083
South Asia

¥9,287
East Asia

¥8
Europe

¥32,885
Total

2015

Millions of Yen

Property, plant and equipment. . . . ¥22,181
Japan

¥453
North America 

¥1,028
South Asia

¥6,315
East Asia

¥5
Europe

¥29,982
Total

2014

Millions of Yen

Property, plant and equipment. . . . $183,617
Japan

$3,942
North America 

$9,025
South Asia

$77,391
East Asia

$67
Europe

$274,042
Total

2015

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

(B) Property, plant and equipment by geographical area are as follows:

(5) Impairment loss on fixed assets by reporting segment is as follows:

(6) Amortization and balance of goodwill by reporting segment are as follows:

Note: Amortization of goodwill is omitted as similar information is provided in “Information on amounts of sales, profit (loss), 
assets and other items by reporting segment.”

14. Financial Instruments and Related Disclosures

(A) Policy for financial instruments

The Companies raise necessary funds for capital investment needs for manufacturing, sales, installation and maintenance 
operations mainly through internal or debt financing. The Companies also raise short-term operating funds through internal or 
short-term debt financing. The Companies invest cash surpluses, if any, in low-risk and highly liquid financial instruments. 

The Companies use derivative financial instruments to manage risk arising from foreign exchange or interest rate fluctuations and 
do not enter into derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. 

(B) Nature of financial instruments, associated risk and risk management system

Receivables, such as trade notes and accounts receivable, are exposed to customer credit risk. The Companies manage, according 
to the credit management rules of the individual company, the due date and the balance of trade receivables from business 
partners, and regularly monitor the status of major counterparties. Receivables in foreign currencies are exposed to the market risk 
of fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates. Foreign currency forward contracts are utilized to hedge the fluctuation risk, if 
necessary. 

Investment securities are mainly equity securities of the entities with a business relationship and exposure to the market price 
fluctuation risk. The Company continuously monitors the issuer’s status and fair value and reviews its holdings considering their 
relationship with the Company.

Payables, such as trade notes and accounts payable, are mainly due within one year. A portion arising from the import of supplies 
is denominated in foreign currencies and is exposed to the market risk of fluctuation in foreign currency exchange rates. The 
balance of payables denominated in foreign currencies is always less than the receivables denominated in foreign currencies. Of 
debt payables, short-term debts are mainly related to operating activities and long-term debts are raised mainly for capital 
investments.  

Derivatives consist of foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swap contracts used to manage the market risk of 
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. These derivative transactions are limited to financial institutions 
with high credit ratings to reduce the counterparty’s credit risk.
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(C) Fair values of financial instruments

Fair values of financial instruments are based on the quoted market price. If a quoted market price is not available, fair value is 
reasonably estimated. The reasonable valuation assumption may result in different fair values because various factors are included 
in estimating the fair value. Also, the contract or notional amounts of derivatives do not measure the exposure to market risk. 
Please see Note 15 for details of fair value for derivatives.

(1) Carrying amount, fair value and differences of financial instruments are as follows:

¥  51,674 
53,184 

6,899 
14 

¥111,771 

¥  15,247 
5,281 
7,911 
1,731 

¥  30,170 

¥        (51)
— 

Carrying
amount

¥  51,674 
51,693 

6,899 
14 

¥110,280 

¥  15,247 
5,281 
7,911 
1,722 

¥  30,161 

¥        (51)
— 

Fair value

¥       — 
(1,491)

— 
(0)

¥(1,491)

¥       — 
— 
— 
(9)

¥       (9)

¥       — 
— 

Difference

¥41,212 
42,117 

5,105 
16 

¥88,450 

¥17,019 
— 

541 
1,779 

¥19,339 

¥       38 
(2)

Carrying
amount

¥41,212 
40,968 

5,105 
16 

¥87,301 

¥17,019 
— 

541 
1,772 

¥19,332 

¥       38 
(2)

Fair value

¥       — 
(1,149)

— 
(0)

¥(1,149)

¥       — 
— 
— 
(7)

¥       (7)

¥       — 
— 

Difference

2015

Millions of Yen

2014

Assets:
 Cash and deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Trade notes and accounts receivable . . . . . 
 Investment securities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Long-term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Liabilities:
 Trade notes and accounts payable . . . . . . 
 Electronically recorded obligations . . . . . . 
 Short-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Long-term debt*1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Derivatives*2:
 Derivatives without hedge accounting . . . . 
 Derivatives with hedge accounting . . . . . . 

$430,617 
443,200 

57,491 
117 

$931,425 

$127,058 
44,008 
65,925 
14,424 

$251,415 

$      (425)
— 

Carrying
amount

$430,617 
430,775 

57,491 
117 

$919,000 

$127,058 
44,008 
65,925 
14,350 

$251,341 

$      (425)
 — 

Fair value

$         — 
(12,425)

— 
(0)

$(12,425)

$         — 
— 
— 

(74)
$       (74)

$         — 
— 

Difference

2015

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

*1: Long-term debt includes the current portion of long-term debt.
*2: The assets and liabilities arising from derivatives are shown at the net value with the amount in parentheses representing net liability.

2) Trade notes and accounts receivable:
The fair value is determined by discounting the cash flows related to the receivables at an assumed rate based on their maturity 
and credit risk.

3) Investment securities:
The fair value is measured as the quoted stock market price for equity securities and as the quoted price obtained from the 
financial institution for certain securities.

The information about investment securities by classification is shown in Note 4.

4) Long-term loans:
The fair value is determined by discounting the cash flows of principal and interest related to the loans at an assumed rate based 
on their collectibility and maturity.

Liabilities

1) Trade notes and accounts payable, electronically recorded obligations and short-term debt:
The carrying values approximate fair value because of their short maturities.

2) Long-term debt:
The fair value is determined by discounting the cash flows related to the debt at an assumed rate based on its maturity and credit 
risk.

3) Derivatives:
The information on the fair value for derivatives is included in Note 15.

(2) Financial instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably determined at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Since no quoted market price is available and future cash flows cannot be reliably estimated, it is extremely difficult to determine 
the fair value, therefore the above financial instruments are not included in table (1).

Note: The methods described below are used to determine the estimated fair value of financial instruments, securities and 
derivatives.

Assets

1) Cash and deposits:
The carrying values approximate fair value because of their short maturities.

Investment securities:
 Unlisted stocks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥123 $1,025 ¥123 

2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

Assets:
 Cash and deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Trade notes and accounts receivable . . . . . 
 Investment securities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Long-term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Liabilities:
 Trade notes and accounts payable . . . . . . 
 Electronically recorded obligations . . . . . . 
 Short-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Long-term debt*1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Derivatives*2:
 Derivatives without hedge accounting . . . . 
 Derivatives with hedge accounting . . . . . . 

(3) A maturity analysis for cash and deposits, trade notes and accounts receivable, and long-term loans at March 31, 2015 is 
summarized as follows:

Due within
one year

Due after
one year through

five years

Due after
five years through

ten years

Cash and deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Trade notes and accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Long-term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Millions of Yen

¥  51,674
50,027

1
¥101,702

¥      —
2,764

13
¥2,777

¥   —
393

—
¥393

Note: Annual maturities of long-term debt are included in Note 7.

Due within
one year

Due after
one year through

five years

Due after
five years through

ten years

Cash and deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Trade notes and accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Long-term loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
 Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

$430,617
416,892

8
$847,517

$        —
23,033

109
$23,142

$      —
3,275

—
$3,275
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(2) Derivative transactions, to which hedge accounting is applied, at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Note: The fair value of derivative transactions is measured at the quoted price obtained from the financial institution.

Note: Interest rate swap contracts applying the exceptional method are dealt with as a group within long-term debt for the hedged 
item, and the fair values are included in the fair values of long-term debt.

Foreign currency forward contracts:
 Buying . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥3,598 

 Contract
amount

¥  (51)

Fair value

¥  (51)

Unrealized
gain (loss)

¥3,335 

 Contract
amount

¥38 ¥38 

Fair value
Unrealized
gain (loss)

2015

Millions of Yen

2014

Foreign currency forward contracts:
 Buying . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $29,983 

 Contract
amount

$(425)

Fair value

$(425)

Unrealized
gain (loss)

2015

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Foreign currency forward contracts:
 Buying . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥—

Contract
amount

¥—

Due after
one year

¥—

Fair value

¥211 

Contract
amount

¥— ¥(2) 

Due after
one year Fair value

2015

Millions of Yen

2014

Foreign currency forward contracts:
 Buying . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $—

Contract
amount

$—

Due after
one year

$—

Fair value

2015

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

November 8,
2013

4 directors of the 
Company (excluding 
outside directors)

Resolution date Person granted

From November 26, 
2013 to November 25, 
2043

Exercise period

36,000 shares of 
common stock

Number of stock options 
by type of stock

—

Vesting 
conditions

—

Service 
period

November 25,
2013

August 7, 
2014

4 directors of the 
Company (excluding 
outside directors)  

From August 26, 
2014 to August 25, 
2044  

24,000 shares of 
common stock — —August 25, 

2014

Grant date

Interest rate swap contracts:
 Variable interest received,
   fixed interest paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥668

Contract
amount

¥334

Due after
one year

¥—

Fair value

¥572 

Contract
amount

¥286 ¥— 

Due after
one year Fair value

2015

Millions of Yen

2014

Interest rate swap contracts:
 Variable interest received,
   fixed interest paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5,567

Contract
amount

$2,783

Due after
one year

$—

Fair value

2015

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

b) Scale and changes in stock options

Stock options outstanding for the year ended March 31, 2015 are covered, and the number of stock options are converted into 
the number of shares.

(3) Evaluation method of fair value per unit of stock options for the year ended March 31, 2015 

a) Appraisal method used

The Black-Scholes model

Before vesting (shares)

November 8, 2013 — — —— —

Resolution date

At the end of
March 31, 

2014 Vested UnvestedGranted Lapsed

36,000 — 36,000— —

At the end of
March 31, 

2014 Lapsed UnexercisedVested Exercised

Vested (shares)

Number of stock options
1st Stock Acquisition Rights of Fujitec Co., Ltd.

Before vesting (shares)

August 7, 2014 — — —24,000 24,000

Resolution date

At the end of
March 31,

2014 Vested UnvestedGranted Lapsed

— — 24,00024,000 —

At the end of
March 31,

2014 Lapsed UnexercisedVested Exercised

Vested (shares)
2nd Stock Acquisition Rights of Fujitec Co., Ltd.

November 8, 2013 — 1,0161

Resolution date Exercise price (Yen)
Average stock price at the

time of exercise (Yen)
Fair value as of the

grant date (Yen)

Unit price information
1st Stock Acquisition Rights of Fujitec Co., Ltd.

August 7, 2014 — 8151

Resolution date Exercise price (Yen)
Average stock price at the

time of exercise (Yen)
Fair value as of the

grant date (Yen)

2nd Stock Acquisition Rights of Fujitec Co., Ltd.

15. Derivative Financial Instruments 

(1) Derivative transactions, to which hedge accounting is not applied, at March 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

16. Stock Options, etc. 

(1) Expenses and accounts related to stock options

(2) Contents, scale and changes in stock options

a) Contents of the stock options

Note: The fair value of derivative transactions is measured at the quoted price obtained from the financial institution.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥ 20 $166 ¥ 36 
2015 20152014

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen
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b) Main underlying figures and estimates

Notes: 1. Estimated based on the stock price performance in 15 years (from August 25, 1999 to August 25, 2014)
          2. Calculated based on the assumption that the stock acquisition rights would be exercised at the middle point of the exercise period
          3. Actual cash dividends for the year ended March 31, 2014
          4. Yield of Japanese government bonds with the same years to maturity as the above expected residual period

(4) Method of estimating the number of vested stock options 

All of the stock acquisition rights are vested when granted.

Volatility
Expected residual period
Expected dividends
Risk-free interest rate

(Note 1)
(Note 2)
(Note 3)
(Note 4)

39.601%
15 years

¥22
0.947%

2nd Stock Acquisition Rights of Fujitec Co., Ltd. (Stock-Compensation-type Stock Options)
(Resolved at a meeting of its Board of Directors held on August 7, 2014)

Cash dividends . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ¥1,050 $8,750

Thousands of
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)Millions of Yen

17. Subsequent Event 

Dividends 

The following appropriation of retained earnings at March 31, 2015 was approved at the annual meeting of shareholders held on 
June 23, 2015:

Stock repurchase

The Company has decided to implement the repurchase of shares of its common stock, which was authorized by a resolution 
passed at a meeting of the Board of Directors held on April 8, 2015, pursuant to Article 156 of the Companies Act of Japan, as 
applied pursuant to Paragraph 3, Article 165 of the Companies Act of Japan.

Details are as follows:

(1) Reason for stock repurchase
To improve capital efficiency and to enable the flexible implementation of the Company’s capital policy

(2) Details of resolution
a) Class of shares repurchased: Common stock
b) Total number of shares repurchased: 7,000,000 shares (maximum)
c) Aggregate repurchase amount: 8,267 million (maximum)
d) Period for repurchase: April 9, 2015
e) Method of repurchase: Through the Tokyo Stock Exchange Trading Network Off-Auction Own Shares Repurchase Trading 
System (ToSTNeT-3)

(3) Details of repurchase
a) Total number of shares repurchased: 6,491,400 shares
b) Aggregate repurchase amount: 7,666 million
c) Date of repurchase: April 9, 2015

On April 9, 2015, the Company has completed the acquisition of its own shares resolved at its Board of Directors meeting held on 
April 8, 2015.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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 (March 31, 2015)

Total Number of Authorized Shares 
(Common Stock)

Total Number of Issued Shares 
(Common Stock)

Number of Shareholders

Stock Exchange Listings

Annual Meeting of Shareholders

Auditor

Transfer Agent

Business Office

Company Name

Date of Establishment

Paid-in Capital

Line of Business

Location

Consolidated Subsidiaries

Number of Employees

Fujitec Co., Ltd.

February 9, 1948

¥12,533,933,095

Research and development, 
manufacture, marketing, installation and 
maintenance of elevators, escalators, 
moving walks, new transportation systems, etc.

Head Office (Big Wing): 591-1, Miyata-cho, 
Hikone, Shiga, Japan
Tokyo Head Office: 3-9-6 Mita, Minato-ku, Tokyo

19

Consolidated: 9,057
(Japan: 2,758, Overseas: 6,299)

300,000,000 shares

93,767,317 shares

3,483

Tokyo Stock Exchange

The annual meeting of shareholders of the Company 
is held in June each year at 591-1, Miyata-cho, 
Hikone, Shiga, Japan

Grant Thornton Taiyo LLC

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited
1-4-1, Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo, Japan

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited
Stock Transfer Agency Department
4-5-33, Kitahama, Chuo-ku, Osaka, Japan

Individuals and Other

6.91%

Securities Companies

0.66%

Non-Japanese

35.68%

Japanese 
Financial 

Institutions

35.64%

Other Japanese 
Companies

21.11%

Japan

Head Office and bases: 4

Headquarters and regional offices: 5

Branch offices: 12

Major Shareholders

Company Data (As of March 31, 2015)

Distribution of Shareholders 

Number of Shares Held 
(Thousands)

Shareholding 
Ratio (%)

CGMI - CLIENT SAFEKEEP 418

Uchiyama International, Limited

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (trust account)

Fuji Electric Co., Ltd.

Resona Bank, Ltd.

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account 4)

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account)

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

JP Morgan Chase Bank 385632

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.

10,709

9,099

4,672

4,629

4,203

3,094

3,048

1,989

1,855

1,663

12.23

10.39

5.33

5.28

4.80

3.53

3.48

2.27

2.11

1.90

Note 1) The shareholding ratios are calculated based on 87,552,531 shares, being the total number of issued shares as of March 31, 2015 (93,767,317) minus the number of treasury 
            shares (6,214,786) on the same date.
Note 2) The shareholding of Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (trust account) includes 727,000 shares of the Employee Shareholders Association Support Trust ESOP.
Note 3) Fujitec Co., Ltd. also holds 6,214,786 shares of treasury stock but is excluded from the above list.

Global Network

Global (21 Countries and 3 Regions)

Consolidated subsidiaries: 19

Production sites: 12

●●Head Office Big Wing (Hikone City, Shiga)
　　Elevator development and manufacturing base

　●Tokyo Head Office (Minato-ku, Tokyo)

　●Big Fit (Ibaraki City, Osaka)
　　After-sales services base

●●Big Step (Toyooka City, Hyogo)
　　(Escalator development and manufacturing base)

Headquarters/Offices

　●North Japan Regional Office (Sapporo City, Hokkaido)

　●Tokyo Metropolitan Area Control HQ (Minato-ku, Tokyo)

　●Chubu Regional Office (Nagoya City, Aichi)

　●Osaka Metropolitan Area Control HQ (Ibaraki City, Osaka)

　●West Japan Regional Office (Fukuoka City, Fukuoka)

R&D centers Production sites Sales sites

Japan

East Asia

　●●Fujitec (HK) Co., Ltd. (Hong Kong)

　●●Fujitec Taiwan Co., Ltd. (Taiwan)

●●●Fujitec Korea Co., Ltd. (Korea)

●●●Huasheng Fujitec Elevator Co., Ltd. (China)

　●●Shanghai Huasheng Fujitec Escalator Co., Ltd. (China)

　　●Fujitec Shanghai Sourcing Center Co., Ltd. (China)

　　●Fujitec Shanghai Technologies Co., Ltd. (China)

South Asia

●●●Fujitec Singapore Corpn. Ltd. (Singapore)

　　●FSP Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)

　　●Fujitec, Inc. (Philippines)

　　●Fujitec (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia)

　●●P.T. Fujitec Indonesia (Indonesia)

　　●Fujitec Vietnam Co., Ltd. (Vietnam)

　●●Fujitec India Private Ltd. (India)

　　●Fujitec (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (Thailand)

　　●Fujitec Lanka (Private) Ltd. (Sri Lanka)

North & South America

●●●Fujitec America, Inc. (U.S.A.)

　　●Fujitec Canada, Inc. (Canada)

　　●Fujitec Venezuela C.A. (Venezuela)

　　●Fujitec Argentina S.A. (Argentina)

　　●Fujitec Uruguay S.A. (Uruguay)

　　●Fujitec Pacific, Inc. (Guam)

Europe & Middle East

　　●Fujitec UK Ltd. (U.K.)

　　●Fujitec Deutschland GmbH (Germany)

　　●Fujitec Saudi Arabia Co., Ltd. (Saudi Arabia)

　　●Fujitec Egypt Co., Ltd. (Egypt)

　　●Fujitec Co., Ltd. UAE (Dubai) Office (UAE)
Big Wing (Japan)

Shareholder Information
(As of March 31, 2015)
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